
EDGERTON CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AGENDA 

CITY HALL, 404 EAST NELSON STREET 
May 27, 2021 

7:00 P.M. 
 
Two public hearings will be held during the May 27, 2021 Edgerton City Council meeting. 
Individuals wishing to speak at either of the public hearings must pre-register by completing 
this registration form. Registration opens Monday afternoon/evening (coincides with publishing 
the agenda) and closes at noon (12:00 p.m.) on Wednesday, May 26. Individuals registering to 
speak at the public hearing will receive email confirmation after registration has closed. The City 
has established a limit of 30 speakers for each public hearing. If more than 30 individuals 
register, the 30 speakers will be determined by a random process. Speakers will be limited to 2 
minutes each. 

The Mayor may modify these procedures as needed to conduct an orderly and efficient 
meeting. 

 

Call to Order 
1. Roll Call ___ Roberts ____ Longanecker ____ Conus ____ Lewis ____ Smith ___ Beem  
2. Welcome 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Business Requiring Action 
4. CONSIDER APPOINTMENT OF A CITY COUNCIL MEMBER TERM ENDING IN 

JANUARY 2024 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
Consent Agenda (Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council 
member requests an item be removed for discussion and separate action)  
5. Approve Minutes from May 13, 2021 Regular City Council Meeting 
6. Approve a Lease Agreement with LEAF Capital Funding, LLC and a Maintenance Agreement 

with MAPS, Inc., for a Multi-Function Printer/Copier for City Offices Located at 305 E. Nelson 
7. Approve Application FP2021-02, Final Plat for CY Edgerton Second Plat Generally Located 

Near the Southeast Corner of Homestead Lane and 191st Street, Edgerton, Kansas. 
8. Approve Actual Project Costs and Final Acceptance of 56 Highway Multi-Use Trail Project 
 

Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 
 
Regular Agenda 
9. Declaration. At this time Council members may declare any conflict or communication they 

have had that might influence their ability to impartially consider today’s issues. 
 

10. Introduction of Brittany Paddock, New Recreation Coordinator  
 
  



Business Requiring Action 
11. PUBLIC HEARING FOR RESOLUTION 05-27-21A TEMPORARILY WAIVING CITY 

PROHIBITION AS TO THE SALE AND CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR ON 
CERTAIN PUBLIC PROPERTY 
 

12. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21A TEMPORARILY WAIVING CITY 
PROHIBITION AS TO THE SALE AND CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR ON 
CERTAIN PUBLIC PROPERTY 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
13. PUBLIC HEARING FOR RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21B CONSENTING TO THE 

PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF A RESOLUTION OF INTENT FOR THE LOGISTICS 
PARK-KC, PHASE 2, FROM EDGERTON LAND HOLDING COMPANY, LLC TO ELHC 
LII, LLC, OR ITS SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 

 
14. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21B CONSENTING TO THE PARTIAL 

ASSIGNMENT OF A RESOLUTION OF INTENT FOR THE LOGISTICS PARK-
KC, PHASE 2, FROM EDGERTON LAND HOLDING COMPANY, LLC TO ELHC 
LII, LLC, OR ITS SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
15. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2079 AUTHORIZING BOND DOCUMENTS AND THE 

ISSUANCE OF THE CITY’S TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (ELHC LII, 
LLC PROJECT) SERIES 2021, FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING AND PROVIDING 
TAX ABATEMENT FOR A DISTRIBUTION AND WAREHOUSE FACILITY 

 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
16. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21C DETERMINING THE INTENT OF 

THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, TO ISSUE ITS TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL 
REVENUE BONDS IN THE APPROXIMATE AMOUNT OF $12,000,000 TO PAY 
THE COST OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING AND EQUIPPING A 
COMMERCIAL FACILITY FOR THE BENEFIT OF CY EDGERTON LLC 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
17. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2080 AUTHORIZING BOND DOCUMENTS AND THE 

ISSUANCE OF THE CITY’S TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (CY EDGERTON 
LLC PROJECT) SERIES 2021, FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING THE EXPANSION 
OF AN EXISTING SURFACE CONTAINER STORAGE LOT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
18. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21D PROVIDING FOR A DEADLINE OF JUNE 

21, 2021 TO RESTORE THE EXTERIOR CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY AT 1110 

































Recommendation:  Approve the Lease Agreement with LEAF Capital 
Funding, LLC, and the Maintenance Agreement with MAPS, Inc., for a 
Multi-Function Printer/Copier for City Offices located at 305 E. Nelson 
Subject to Approval by the City Attorney 

The lease agreement and the maintenance contract have been submitted to the City Attorney 
for review/approval. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  n/a 

 
 
Funding Source:  General Fund – General Government 
 
Budget Allocated:  $3,600 

Finance Director Approval:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: Summary of Proposals Received 

Lease Agreement with LEAF Capital Funding, LLC 
  Maintenance Agreement with MAPS, Inc. 
 
Prepared by:    Karen Kindle, Finance Director 



City of Edgerton
2021 Community Development Copier RFP
Analysis of Responses

Est Est Est Cost
Co-Op Monthly Annual for 48

Company Contract Make Model Cost Cost Month Term
MAPS
(Modern Advanced Print 
Solutions)

Omnia Partners Kyocera TASKalfa 3553ci 209.79$ 2,517.48$  10,069.92$   

360 Document Solutions Omnia Partners Toshiba eStudio 3515AC 215.98$ 2,591.76$  10,367.04$   

Drexel Technologies Sourcewell Xerox Altalink C8135/H2 217.18$ 2,606.16$  10,424.64$   

Century Business Technologies State of Kansas Savin IMC 3500 SPF 
Color System

232.08$ 2,784.96$  11,139.84$   

SumnerOne n/a Canon imageRUNNER 
C5740i

253.70$ 3,044.40$  12,177.60$   

SumnerOne SumnerOne SLG 
Contract

Konica 
Minolta

bizhub C360i 269.70$ 3,236.40$  12,945.60$   

SumnerOne Sourcewell Konica 
Minolta

bizhub C360i 289.87$ 3,478.44$  13,913.76$   







MIS04 4-17-2014 App=656920

  PROGRAM
TION O DEBIT AND CREDIT  BY 

Customer Name: CITY OF EDGERTON

Application Number: 656920

In connection with the above referenced contract(s) (“Contract”), Customer(s) hereby authorize(s),  Capital Funding,  AND/
OR ITS AGENTS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (collectively, “Company”), to initiate ACH credit and/or debit entries, and if
necessary, adjust any credit and/or debit entries made in error to the account described below (“Account”) at the financial institution
named below (“Bank”). The authorization provided herein (this “Authorization”) is intended to encompass all amounts due and to
become due under the above Contract, including current and past due periodic payments, miscellaneous charges, taxes and late
charges. This Authorization shall not be limited or deemed waived, nor shall Company assume any liability, if for any reason Company
delays debiting the Account for amounts due under the Contract. FOR ADMINISTRATIVE PURPOSES, ALL DEBIT AND CREDIT
ENTRIES SHALL APPEAR ON THE ACCOUNT AS BEING INITIATED BY “LEASE SER

BANK NAME: ABA/ROUTING NUMBER:

BRANCH: ACCOUNT NAME:

CITY:

STATE: _____________ ZIP: ACCOUNT NUMBER:

ACH  OIDED CHECK ON THE ABOVE 

Customer certifies that all information set forth above is true and correct. Customer agrees to give Company not less than twenty (20)
days advance written notification of any termination or change in this Authorization, which shall remain in full force and effect until
Company has received such written notification from Customer.

 eby acknowledges and ees that the financial accommodations and periodic payments  the Contract 
been eed to by Company upon the condition that Company will be able to ealize cost savings by administering the 
using ACH debit and edit entries as authorized ein. If,  any eason, this Authorization is terminated  suspended  
Company is unable to  the Contract by ACH debit and edit entries as authorized ein,  ees that 
periodic payments  the Contract may be eased by two cent (2%) until Company's ability to  the 
by ACH debit and credit entries as authorized herein has been r ed to the reasonable satisfaction of Company

Signature:X

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

Customer Billing Contact Information
(if different from information on left):

Name:

Title:

Phone Number:

E-mail Address:

THE PERSON SIGNING ABOVE AFFIRMS THAT HE/SHE IS A DULY AUTHORIZED CORPORATE OFFICER OR OFFICIAL, PARTNER OR
PROPRIETOR OF THE ABOVE NAMED CUSTOMER.









the updated Final Plat is included here. This Final Plat has been reviewed by the City Engineer 
and found to be in compliance with City Code requirements.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 12-715b, K.S.A. 12-741, et. Seq. to K.S.A. 12-
771 – Establishment of the Unified Development Code 

 
 
Funding Source:  N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 

 
Enclosed: 

• Revised Final Plat received May 10, 2021. 
• Staff Report from April 13, 2021 Planning Commission including Final Plat Application 

FP2021-02  
• Excerpt of April 13, 2021 Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minutes – CY Edgerton 

Second Plat portion only. 
 
Prepared by: Katy Crow, Development Services Director 

Recommendation: Approve Application FP2021-02, Final Plat for CY 
Edgerton Second Plat Generally Located Near the Southeast Corner of 
Homestead Lane and 191st Street, Edgerton, Kansas. 







 

FP2021-02 Final Plat – Arrowhead                                                                    Page 1 

 
 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
April 13, 2021 
 
To: Edgerton Planning Commission 
Fr:  Chris Clinton, Planning and Zoning Coordinator 
Re: FP2021-02 Final Plat for CY Edgerton Second Plat (Arrowhead) generally located at the 

southeast corner of Homestead Lane and 191st Street.  
 
 
APPLICATION INFORMATION 
 
Applicant: CY Edgerton 
 32355 W 191st Street 
 Edgerton, KS 66201 
 
Property Owner: CY Edgerton, LLC 
 20012 W South Arsenal Rd 
 Wilmington, IL 60481 
  
 And 
  
 Omar Holtgraver 
 1979 Haskell Road 
 Ottawa, KS 66067 
 
Requested Action:  Final Plat approval for Arrowhead. 
 
Legal Description: NW ¼ Section 3, Township 15 S, Range 22 E, in the City 

of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas; see attached 
application for complete legal description. 

 
Site Address/Location: Southeast corner of Homestead Lane and 191st Street 
 
Existing Zoning and Land Uses: L-P (Logistics Park) District Zoning 
 
Existing Improvements: None 
 
Site Size:                                             Approximately 60.50 acres 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
Application FP2021-02, Final Plat for Arrowhead, requests approval for the platting of one (1) lot. 
The new lot would have frontage along the south side of 191st Street right-of-way and the east 
side of Homestead Lane right-of-way. This Final Plat request is being made in preparation to 
expand the existing cargo container storage lot that is currently located on the eastern parcel. This 
Final Plat request aligns with the request made with Preliminary Plat Application PP2021-02, also 



FP2021-02 Final Plat – Arrowhead                                                                    Page 2 
 

presented to the Planning Commission on April 13, 2021. This Final Plat application combines two 
(2) lots, one of which has been platted prior and one that has not. 
 

Subject Property 
 

  
 

 
 



FP2021-02 Final Plat – Arrowhead                                                                    Page 3 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES 
1. Current access to the parcels is from 191st Street.  
2. Utilities and service providers. 

a. Water Service – City of Edgerton. 
b. Sanitary Sewer – City of Edgerton. 
c. Electrical Service – Evergy. 
d. Gas Service – Kansas Gas Service. 
e. Police protection is provided by the City of Edgerton through the Johnson County 

Sheriff’s Office. 
f. Fire protection is provided by Johnson County Fire District #1. 

3. Parcel is located within the Bull Creek watershed. 
 

FINAL PLAT REVIEW 
Staff has reviewed the Final Plat submittal for compliance with the Approved Final Plat 
requirements in Article 13, Section 13.3 of the Edgerton Unified Development Code. Review 
comments are listed below. 

 
1. Ownership of parcel. The sale of the parcel from Omar and India Holtgraver has not been 

finalized so the Final Plat should reflect two property owners. Update Final P lat. 
2. The instrument of survey which shows the point of beginning, corners, bearings, 

courses, distances, exterior boundaries, interior lot boundaries, abandoned lot lines, 
pins, monuments found or set. All P.I.’s corners must be monumented with a 2” x 24” 
metal bar. All corners should be shown with set or found monuments and it must be 
confirmed that all the monuments have been set. The SE corner of the NW ¼, (3-15-
22) is a supporting section corner. It is shown as calculated but the City Engineer 
believes the corner exists and reference ties also exist. This corner should be found or 
reset according to those ties. The plat should be revised based upon the location of this 
section corner. Additionally, Lot 1 needs to be labeled in the southeast corner. Update 
Final P lat. 

3. A boundary survey of third order surveying accuracy (maximum closure error one in 
five thousand (1’ in 5,000)), with bearings and distances referenced to section or 
fractional section corners or other base line shown on the plat and readily reproducible 
on the ground. City Engineer has indicated the closure error has not been provided. 
Update Final P lat. 

4. Individual notation and a TABLE showing: lot area, setbacks, and building envelopes. 
This table is missing and there is a building line setback going down the middle of the 
plat that needs to be removed as the set back is from the property lines. Update Final 
P lat. 

5. All easements with widths, and roads with curve data. Existing easements for the 
sanitary sewer pump station, force mains, and gravity sewer have not been shown. 
Additionally, a drainage and trail easement must be provided over the floodplain on the 
western half of the proposed plat that matches the drainage and trail easement on CY 
Edgerton Final Plat recorded with the Johnson County RTA on August 18, 2017. 
Additional utility easements may be necessary, and the plat should be reviewed by 
utility providers to confirm their requirements. Update Final P lat. 

6. A written legal description from the survey. Review legal description – phrase “SECOND 
PLAT” should be removed. Update Final P lat. 

7. An instrument of dedication for all roads and easements. There are typos in the 
dedication portion. Update Final P lat. 



FP2021-02 Final Plat – Arrowhead                                                                    Page 4 
 

8. Private travel easements. There is an existing access easement. Is this easement still 
needed or can it be vacated with this Final Plat? Update Final P lat as needed. 

9. Certificate of the Governing Body with City Clerk’s attest and Seal. The City Clerk is not 
correct. Update Final P lat. 

10. Edgerton City Planning Commission chair and secretary approval. The names shown 
are not correct. Update Final P lat. 

11. Certificate of the Register of Deeds. Certificate needs to be added to plat. Upon filing 
Final P lat w ith Johnson County Records and Tax Administration the 
Book/ Page information w ill be added.  

12. Certificate of the Zoning Administrator. The name of the Zoning Administrator is not 
correct. Update Final P lat. 

 
OTHER COMMENTS 

1. The Johnson County RTA limits plat document size to 36” x 30”. Submitted document 
is 42” x 30”. Submit document correctly sized for recording. 

2. The property address is incorrectly listed as Gardner, Kansas. Update Final P lat. 
3. A phone number needs to be provided for the property owner. Update Final P lat. 
4. There are several typographical errors which need to be corrected. Update Final 

P lat. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
City staff recommends approval of Application FP2021-02 Final Plat for Arrowhead, 
subject to compliance with the following stipulations: 

 
1. The commencement of any improvements shall not occur prior to the approval and 

endorsement of the Final Plat by the Governing Body and the submittal and approval of 
construction plans for all streets, sidewalks, storm water sewers, sanitary sewers, and 
water mains contained within the Final Plat. The property owner and/or developer shall 
work with City staff to determine the best possible placement for a storm water 
easement and shall dedicate said storm water easement on the submitted Final Plat. 

2. The applicant shall meet all requirements of Recording a Final Plat as defined in Section 
13.5 of the Edgerton Unified Development Code. 

3. The applicant shall meet all requirements of Financial Assurances as defined in Section 
13.7 of the Edgerton Unified Development Code. 

4. All City Engineer comments related to the Stormwater Management Plan must be 
addressed.  

5. All Final Plat requirements of the City listed above shall be met or addressed prior to 
recording of the Plat. 

6. If the Final Plat is not recorded with the Johnson County Register of Deeds within one 
year after acceptance by the Governing Body, the plat will expire. Planning Commission 
re-approval and Governing Body re-acceptance is required for expired Final Plats. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Application FP2021-02 
- Final Plat, Arrowhead 



172.50 4/1/21 33682337







 
 

PROPERTY BOUNDARY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
FROM J&J SURVEY DATED:  FEBRUARY 5, 2021 

 
 
PROJECT: Arrowhead Intermodal - 3 
  20,000 SF New BTS 

ARCO Job No. K-710 
 
LOCATION: 32355 W. 191st Street 

Edgerton, KS 66021 
 
DATE:  February 5, 2021  
 
Deed descriptions 
Book 5963, Page 691 
A part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 15 South, Range 22 East, Johnson County, 
Kansas, More Particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at the Northwest corner of said Northwest Quarter;  Thence North 90° East, along the North 
line of said Northwest Quarter, a distance of 1035.25 feet, Thence South 0° East, a distance of 740.36 
feet;  Thence South 90° East, a distance of 282.28 feet;  Thence South 0°18’01” West, a distance of 
1914.73 feet to a point on the South line of said Northwest Quarter;  Thence North 89°44’38” West a 
distance of 1291.75 feet to the Southwest corner of said Northwest Quarter, Thence North 0°20’27” 
West, a distance of 2649.33 feet, to the point beginning, containing 74.72 acres. 
 
Also, Lot1, Final PLAT of C Y EDGERTON, part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 15 South, 
Range 22 East, in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas 
 
AND EXCEPT: 
 
QUITCLAIM DEED Book 201204, Page 001961 
a tract of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 15 South, Range 22 East of the 6th P.M., 
described as follows:  Beginning at the Southwest corner of said Quarter Section:  First course, Thence 
on an assumed bearing of North 88°26’03” East, 300.63 feet along the South line of said Quarter 
Section;  Second course, Thence North 01°49’33” West, 319.56 feet;  Third course, Thence North 
23°37’38” West 53.85 feet;  Fourth course, Thence North 01°49’33” West, 2148.99  feet;  Fifth course, 
Thence North 43°14’32” East, 102.62 feet;  Sixth course,  Thence North 88°10’23” East 666.09 feet to the 
West line of a tract of land described in a deed recorded in Book 3047, Page 6 in the Register of Deeds 
office.  JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS;  Seventh course, Thence North 01°49’37” West, 30.00 feet along 
said West line;  Eighth course, Thence North 88°10’23” East, 306.00 feet to the East line of said tract of 
land;  Ninth course, Thence North 01°49’37” West 30.00 feet along said East line to the North line of said 
Quarte Section;  Tenth course, Thence South 88°10’23” West, 1341.25 feet along said North line to the 
Northwest corner of said Quarter Section;  Eleventh course,  Thence South 02°10’09” East, 2649.70 feet 
along the West line of said Quarter Section to the point of beginning.  The above described tract 
contains 19.00 acres, which includes 1.82 acres of existing right of way, resulting in an acquisition of 
17.18 acres, more or less. 

















Recommendation: Approve Resolution No. 05-27-21A Temporarily 
Waiving City Prohibition As To The Sale And Consumption Of Alcoholic 
Liquor On Certain Public Property 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): Chapter III, Article I, Section 3-202 
 

 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  Draft Resolution No. 05-27-21A 
 
 
Prepared by:  Kara Banks, Marketing and Communications Manager  
  
 



RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21A 
 
A RESOLUTION TEMPORARILY WAIVING CITY PROHIBITION AS TO THE SALE AND 
CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR ON CERTAIN PUBLIC PROPERTY 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the 2021 annual celebration known as Frontier Days will be held June 18 
through June 19 in the City of Edgerton, Kansas; and 
  
 WHEREAS, a request has been received by the City of Edgerton from the Edgerton 
Frontier Days Association for permission to sell and serve alcoholic liquor (i.e. alcoholic beverages 
other than 3.2% beer [a/k/a cereal malt beverage]) at its annual festival; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter III, Article 1, Section 3-202 of the Code of the City of Edgerton 
prohibits the serving alcoholic liquor within 200 feet of a church, school, nursing home, library or 
hospital, but said prohibition may be waived by the governing body after public notice, followed 
by a hearing and finding by the governing body that the proximity of the location, where the 
cereal malt beverage or alcoholic liquor will be served, is not adverse to the public welfare or 
safety.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS, THAT: 
 
SECTION ONE: Finding: That the Governing Body, after receiving a request from the Frontier 
Days Association, does hereby find and conclude that the proximity of the requested location for 
the sale and consumption of alcoholic liquor is not adverse to the public welfare or safety and the 
Governing Body's conclusion in this regard is supported by the fact that the Frontier Days 
Association has served cereal malt beverages in this location for several years without any 
adversity to the public welfare or safety. 
 
SECTION TWO: Waiver Granted: That the Governing Body, pursuant to Chapter III, Article I, 
Section 3-202 of the Edgerton City Code, hereby grants the waiver requested by the Frontier 
Days Association, with the following stipulations: 
 

a) The sale and consumption of alcoholic liquor shall be allowed in an area on Nelson 
Street between East Third Street and East Fourth Street (specifically designated and 
approved by the City Administrator) between the hours of 6:00 pm and 11:59 pm on 
June 18, 2021 and between the hours of 2:00 pm and 11:59 pm on June 19, 2021. 

b) The location of the point of sale for alcoholic liquor shall be 307 E. Nelson Street by 
properly licensed individuals or groups only. 

c) No alcoholic liquor may be sold or dispensed in glass bottles or containers, only plastic, 
paper cups or cans may be used. 

 
SECTION THREE - Effective Date: This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force 
immediately after its adoption by the Governing Body. 
 
  



ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS ON THE 27TH DAY OF MAY 2021. 
      
 
ATTEST:      CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
______________________________  By: _______________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk           Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Lee W. Hendricks, City Attorney  



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Council Meeting Date:   May 27, 2021 
 
Agenda Item: Public Hearing 
 Partial Assignment of Resolution of Intent 
 
Subject:   IRBs and Property Tax Abatement for ELHC LII, LLC Project  
 
Hearing Notice Published:   May 19, 2021 in the Gardner News 
 

 
 
Summary: 
 
 The City has received an application for property tax abatement from ELHC LII, LLC.  ELHC LII desires to 
construct an approximately 1,028,880 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution facility to be located at 20500 Corliss Road. In order 
for the City to issue industrial revenue bonds and grant property tax abatement, the City must first hold a public hearing, 
consider the cost-benefit report and then approve a partial assignment of the Master Resolution of Intent. 
 
Public Hearing 
 
 A notice of the public hearing has been published at least seven days prior to the date of this meeting.  Written 
notice of the public hearing has also been provided to the County and the School District.  The Council should take 
comments from the public. 
 
Cost-Benefit Report 
 
 Columbia Capital Management, LLC has prepared a cost-benefit report for the proposed project.  The Council 
should consider the cost-benefit report and ask any questions the Council may have about the report. 
 
Partial Assignment of Resolution of Intent 
 
 The City previously adopted a Master Resolution of Intent for the benefit of Edgerton Land Holding Company, 
LLC (“Edgerton Land”) for constructing various projects in The Logistics Park-Kansas City, Phase 2, and provided for 
the issuance of up to $1,000,000,000 in industrial revenue bonds.  The Master Resolution of Intent allows Edgerton Land 
to assign portions of the Master Resolution of Intent to various companies that locate within the park.  The partial 
assignment of the Master Resolution of Intent assigns $52,000,000 of the Master Resolution of Intent to ELHC LII for the 
purpose of constructing this project. 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21B 
 

RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF A 
RESOLUTION OF INTENT FOR THE LOGISTICS PARK-KC, PHASE 2, FROM 
EDGERTON LAND HOLDING COMPANY, LLC TO ELHC LII, LLC, OR ITS 
SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 

 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), desires to promote, stimulate and 
develop the general welfare and economic prosperity of the City and its inhabitants and thereby to further 
promote, stimulate and develop the general welfare and economic prosperity of the State of Kansas; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City is authorized and empowered under the provisions of K.S.A. 12-1740 to 
12-1749d, inclusive (the “Act”), to issue industrial revenue bonds to pay the cost of certain facilities (as 
defined in the Act) for the purposes set forth in the Act and to lease such facilities to private persons, 
firms or corporations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City adopted Resolution No. 04-25-19A on April 25, 2019 (the “Resolution of 
Intent”) determining the intent of the City to issue its industrial revenue bonds in multiple series, the 
aggregate amount of all series not to exceed $1,000,000,000 (the “Bonds”), to finance the costs of 
acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving and equipping the Logistics Park Phase Two Projects 
(as defined in the Resolution of Intent) for the benefit of Edgerton Land Holding Company, LLC (the 
“Developer”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Resolution of Intent permits the Developer, with the consent of the City, to 
assign a portion of its interest in the Resolution of Intent to another entity, thereby conferring on such 
entity the benefits of the Resolution of Intent and the proceedings related thereto; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to assign $52,000,000 of its interest in the Resolution of 
Intent to ELHC LII, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the “Company”), for the purposes of 
permitting the Company to acquire, construct and equip a commercial project, consisting of an 
approximately 1,028,880 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution facility (the “ELHC Project”), to be located at 
20500 Corliss Road, Edgerton, Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to such partial assignment of the Resolution of Intent to 
the Company. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Partial Assignment of Resolution of Intent.  The Governing Body of the City 
hereby consents to the assignment by the Developer of $52,000,000 of the Developer’s interest in the 
Resolution of Intent to the Company for the purposes of completing the ELHC Project, which is a 
Logistics Park Phase Two Project.  The City agrees that the Company will now be entitled to the benefits 
of the Resolution of Intent to the same extent and on the same terms as the Developer with respect to the 
ELHC Project. 
 
 Section 2.  Authorization to Proceed.  The Company is authorized to proceed with the acquiring, 
constructing and equipping of the ELHC Project, and to advance such funds as may be necessary to 



 -2- 
Assignment of Resolution of Intent 
ELHC LII, LLC Project 

accomplish such purposes, and, to the extent permitted by law, the City will reimburse the Company for all 
expenditures paid or incurred therefor out of the proceeds of the Bonds. 
 
 Section 3.  Benefit of Resolution.  This Resolution will inure to the benefit of the City and the 
Company.  The Company may, with the prior written consent of the City, assign its interest in this 
Resolution and the Resolution of Intent to another entity, and such assignee will be entitled to the benefits of 
this Resolution, the Resolution of Intent and the proceedings related hereto. 
 
 Section 4.  Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately after 
its adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 
 ADOPTED this 27th day of May, 2021. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

[SEAL]  Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 



	

	

 

6700 Antioch, Suite 250 
Merriam, Kansas 66204 

	 	
 

Jeff White, Managing Member 
913.312.8077 
jwhite@columbiacapital.com 

	

	

May	7,	2021	

	

Ms.	Beth	Linn	

City	Administrator	

City	of	Edgerton	

404	East	Nelson	

Edgerton,	Kansas	66021	

	

RE:	Cost-Benefit	Analysis	for	ELHC	LII,	LLC	
	

Dear	Beth:	

	

Please	 find	 attached	 the	 results	 of	 our	 cost-benefit	 analysis	 related	 to	 the	 projected	

property	tax	abatement	being	considered	by	the	City	to	applicant	ELHC	LII,	LLC	which	

plans	to	construct	a	1,028,000	square	foot	industrial/warehouse/distribution	facility	in	

Phase	2	of	Logistics	Park	Kansas	City	(LPKC).	The	purpose	of	this	analysis	is	to	satisfy	
the	City’s	requirement	pursuant	to	KSA	12-1749d	or	KSA	79-251(a)(1)	to	undertake	a	

cost-benefit	 analysis	 before	 granting	 a	 property	 tax	 abatement.	 Consistent	 with	 City	

policy	 for	development	within	LPKC,	 this	analysis	assumes	 the	City	will	grant	a	100%	

property	 tax	abatement	 for	10	years	with	 the	applicant	paying	an	annual	payment-in-

lieu-of-taxes	equal	to	$0.16	per	building	square	foot	on	the	project.		

	

BACKGROUND 
In	2017	the	Edgerton	City	Council	approved	an	 incentives	program	that	provides	 ten-

year	property	tax	abatements	for	projects	locating	in	Phase	2	of	LPKC.	The	purpose	of	

these	 abatements	 is	 to	 ensure	 that	 rents	 paid	 by	 the	 eventual	 users	 of	 buildings	

constructed	 by	 the	 master	 developer	 will	 be	 competitive	 against	

warehouse/distribution	developments	in	Olathe,	south	Kansas	City,	Riverside	and	those	

located	 in	 other	 cities,	 including	 Dallas,	 Chicago,	 Memphis	 and	 Indianapolis.	 Like	

Edgerton,	these	communities	also	have	incentives	programs	in	place	for	warehouse	and	

distribution	facilities.	

	

The	 master	 developer	 reports	 that,	 without	 the	 abatement	 incentives,	 large-scale	

warehouse	 and	 distribution	 facilities	 would	 not	 materialize	 in	 Phase	 2	 of	 LPKC	 and	

certainly	not	at	the	pace	of	development	LPKC	has	seen	in	recent	years:	the	presence	of	

the	 abatements	 has	 been	 and	 will	 continue	 to	 be	 a	 necessary	 condition	 to	 the	

development	of	the	project.	

	

ABATEMENT MECHANICS 
Under	 Kansas	 law,	 every	 ad	 valorem	 tax	 abatement	 is	 a	 100%	 abatement.	 Cities	

granting	 an	 abatement	 have	 the	 right	 to	 negotiate	 payments-in-lieu-of-tax	 (PILOT)	
payments	from	the	abatement	beneficiary	to	reduce	the	effective	value	of	the	abatement	

to	 that	 party.	 PILOT	 payments	 are	 distributed	 by	 Kansas	 counties	 to	 all	 taxing	









COLUMBIA CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC DATE OF ANALYSIS: 5/7/21

SUMMARY OF COSTS AND BENEFITS 
City of Edgerton, Kansas

APPLICANT INFORMATION:

Application Date: 4/14/21 Summary of Incentives Provided:
Firm Name: ELHC LII, LLC
Firm Address: 4825 NW 41st St, Suite 500

Riverside, Missouri 64150

Firm Contact: Brent Miles Building Size (sf):
816-888-7380

SUMMARY OF INCENTIVE PACKAGE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT IMPACTS ONLY): PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES RECEIPTS:

City County School
Year (%) ($) (%) ($) County School ($) ($) ($)

2 100 1,277,368 100 75,225 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
3 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
4 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
5 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
6 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
7 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
8 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
9 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
10 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231
11 100 1,277,368 100 0 0 0 33,457 20,702 71,231

SUMMARY OF PRESENT VALUE BENEFITS:

Total Total Net Net PV Total Total Net Net PV Total Total Net Net PV
Year Benefits Costs Benefit Benefit Benefits Costs Benefit Benefit Benefits Costs Benefit Benefit

2 805,065 340,831 464,234 424,138 312,699 295,393 17,306 15,811 804,613 633,252 171,361 156,561
3 804,143 340,831 463,312 404,603 237,117 222,022 15,095 13,182 812,357 639,424 172,933 151,020
4 804,143 340,831 463,312 386,736 237,222 222,022 15,200 12,688 812,357 639,424 172,933 144,351
5 804,143 340,831 463,312 369,658 237,332 222,022 15,310 12,215 812,357 639,424 172,933 137,976
6 804,143 340,831 463,312 353,334 237,448 222,022 15,426 11,764 812,357 639,424 172,933 131,883
7 804,143 340,831 463,312 337,731 237,569 222,022 15,547 11,333 812,357 639,424 172,933 126,059
8 804,143 340,831 463,312 322,817 237,697 222,022 15,675 10,922 812,357 639,424 172,933 120,492
9 804,143 340,831 463,312 308,561 237,831 222,022 15,809 10,528 812,357 639,424 172,933 115,172

10 804,143 340,831 463,312 294,935 237,971 222,022 15,949 10,153 812,357 639,424 172,933 110,086
11 804,143 340,831 463,312 281,911 238,119 222,022 16,097 9,794 812,357 639,424 172,933 105,224

8,042,352 3,408,310 4,634,041 3,484,423 2,451,005 2,293,591 157,414 118,392 8,115,825 6,388,067 1,727,757 1,298,824

SUMMARY OF ECONOMIC IMPACT (over 10-year period):

Number of jobs to be created : 50

Number of new residents:
   City 0
   County 12
   School District 4

Expected 10-Year Contribution to PIF: 2,859,350$            

Impact of exemption on state revenues: (168,278)$             

Property Tax Abatement Construction Sales Tax Abatement Direct Incentives

County Summary

0
0
0
0

City Summary

City

100% real property tax abatement for a 10 year period, as well as a construction sales tax exemption for materials, with a PILOT 
payment of $0.16/s.f. per year.

0
0

School District Summary

0
0
0
0

1,028,000             



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
Council Meeting Date:   May 27, 2021 
 
Agenda Item: Ordinance Authorizing Bonds and Bond Documents 
 
Subject:   Industrial Revenue Bonds and Property Tax Abatement for the ELHC LII, LLC Project 
 

 
 
Summary:  
 

The City received an application for industrial revenue bonds and property tax abatement from ELHC LII, LLC for 
an approximately 1,028,880 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution facility, to be located at 20500 Corliss Road (the 
“Project”).  At this meeting, the City held a public hearing, considered the cost-benefit report and then approved an 
assignment resolution assigning a portion of the master resolution of intent from Edgerton Land Holding Company, 
LLC to ELHC LII, LLC. The building is being built on a speculative basis. 

 
Ordinance: 
 
 The Ordinance authorizes the City to issue up to $52,000,000 of industrial revenue bonds for the Project.  This bond 
issue is commonly referred to as a “buy your own bonds bond issue.”  ELHC LII will be both the lessee on the project and 
the owner of the bonds.  When the bonds are issued, ELHC LII will lease the project site to the City as is required by state 
law in order to issue industrial revenue bonds.  The City will then sublease the project back to ELHC LII.  ELHC LII will 
be obligated to repurchase the project at the conclusion of the tax abatement. 
 

The bonds will be limited obligations of the City.  This means that the City has to make payments on the bonds to 
ELHC LII as the owner of the bonds only to the extent the City receives payments from ELHC LII pursuant to the lease.  If 
lease payments from ELHC LII are insufficient to cover scheduled debt service on the bonds, the City is not obligated to 
make up any shortfall from any other funds of the City.  The bonds are not a general obligation of the City and do not count 
against the City’s debt limit. 
 
The Ordinance authorizes the City to enter into the following documents: 
 

(a) Trust Indenture which contains the terms governing the Bonds and contains the form of the Bonds; 
(b) Base Lease Agreement whereby the City leases the project site from ELHC LII; 
(c) Lease Agreement whereby the City will lease the project to ELHC LII for the term of the tax abatement; 
(d) Bond Purchase Agreement whereby ELHC LII agrees to acquire the Bonds; 
(e) Performance Agreement whereby ELHC LII agrees to make certain payments-in-lieu of tax payments; and 
(f) Origination Fee Agreement whereby ELHC LII agrees to pay the origination fee to the City over time. 

 



[Summary Published in The Gardner News on June 2, 2021] 
 
 
 ORDINANCE NO. 2079 
 
 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING BOND DOCUMENTS AND THE ISSUANCE 

OF THE CITY’S TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (ELHC LII, LLC 
PROJECT) SERIES 2021, FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING AND PROVIDING 
TAX ABATEMENT FOR A DISTRIBUTION AND WAREHOUSE FACILITY. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), is authorized pursuant to the provisions of 
K.S.A. 12-1740 to 12-1749d, inclusive, as amended (the “Act”), to acquire, purchase, construct, install and 
equip certain commercial and industrial facilities, and to issue industrial revenue bonds for the purpose of 
paying the cost of such facilities, and to lease such facilities to private persons, firms or corporations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City has heretofore and does now find and determine that it 
is desirable, in order to promote, stimulate and develop the general economic welfare and prosperity of the 
City and the State of Kansas, that the City issue its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (ELHC LII, LLC 
Project) Series 2021, in an aggregate maximum principal amount not to exceed $52,000,000 (the “Bonds”), 
for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and equipping a commercial project, consisting of an approximately 
1,028,880 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution facility, to be located at 20500 Corliss Road in Edgerton, Kansas, 
including land, buildings, structures, improvements, fixtures, machinery and equipment (the “Project”), and 
that the City lease the Project to ELHC LII, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the “Company”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City further finds and determines that it is necessary and 
desirable in connection with the issuance of the Bonds that the City enter into certain agreements, and that the 
City take certain other actions and approve the execution of certain other documents as herein provided; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. Authorization for the Acquisition, Purchase, Construction, Installation and 
Equipping of the Project.  The City is hereby authorized to provide for the acquisition, purchase, 
construction, installation, rehabilitation and equipping of the Project, all in the manner and as more particularly 
described in the Indenture and the Lease Agreement hereinafter authorized. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization of and Security for the Bonds.  The City is hereby authorized to 
issue and sell the Bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the cost of acquiring, purchasing, 
constructing, installing and equipping the Project.  The Bonds shall be issued and secured pursuant to the 
herein authorized Indenture and shall bear such date, shall mature at such time, shall be in such denominations, 
shall bear interest at such rates, shall be in such form, shall be subject to redemption and other terms and 
conditions, and shall be issued in such manner, subject to such provisions, covenants and agreements, as are 
set forth in the hereafter defined Indenture.  The Bonds shall be payable solely out of the rents, revenues and 
receipts derived by the City from the Project, and the Project and the net earnings derived by the City from 
the Project shall be pledged and assigned to the hereafter defined Trustee as security for payment of the Bonds 
as provided in the Indenture. 
 
 Section 3. Authorization of Documents.  The City is hereby authorized to enter into the 
following documents, in substantially the forms presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City 
(copies of which documents, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk), with such 



2 
 

changes therein as shall be approved by the officers of the City executing such documents, such officers’ 
signatures thereon being conclusive evidence of their approval thereof: 
 
  (a) Trust Indenture dated the date set forth therein (the “Indenture”), between the City 

and the trustee named therein (the “Trustee”), pursuant to which the Bonds shall be issued and the 
City shall pledge the Project and assign the rents, revenues and receipts received pursuant to the 
hereafter defined Lease to the Trustee for the benefit of and security of the holder of the Bonds upon 
the terms and conditions as set forth in said form of Indenture; 

 
  (b) Base Lease Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Base Lease”), between 

the Company and the City, under which the City will lease the project site from the Company; 
 
  (c) Lease Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Lease Agreement”), between 

the City and the Company, under which the City will agree to use the proceeds derived from the sale 
of the Bonds for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, constructing, installing and equipping the 
Project and to sublease the Project to the Company, and the Company will agree to make payments 
in amounts sufficient to provide for the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and 
interest on the Bonds as the same become due; 

 
  (d) Bond Purchase Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Bond Purchase 

Agreement”), among the City, the Company, as lessee, and the Company, as purchaser; 
 
  (e) Performance Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Performance 

Agreement”), between the City and the Company; and 
 
  (f) Origination Fee Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Origination Fee 

Agreement”), between the City and the Company. 
 
 Section 4. Execution of Bond and Documents.  The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute the Bonds and to deliver the Bonds to the Trustee for authentication for and on behalf 
of and as the act and deed of the City in the manner provided in the Indenture.  The Mayor of the City is 
hereby authorized and directed to execute the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease Agreement, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement, the Performance Agreement, the Origination Fee Agreement and such other documents, 
certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this 
Ordinance, for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to the Bonds, the Indenture, the Base Lease, 
the Lease Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Performance Agreement, the Origination Fee 
Agreement and such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary. 
 
 Section 5. Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officers, employees and agents of the 
City are hereby authorized and directed to, take such action, expend such funds and execute such other 
documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the 
intent of this Ordinance and to carry out, comply with and perform the duties of the City with respect to the 
Bonds, the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease Agreement, the Performance Agreement, the Bond Purchase 
Agreement and the Origination Fee Agreement. 
 
 Section 6. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 
passage, approval and publication in summary form in the official City newspaper. 
 
  



3 
 

 PASSED by the Governing Body of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, this 27th day of May, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
[SEAL] 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ELHC LII, LLC Ordinance 



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
Council Meeting Date:   May 27, 2021 
 
Agenda Item: Resolution of Intent and Ordinance 
 
Subject:   CY Edgerton LLC Expansion Project 
 
Hearing Notice Published:   Not Required for Sales Tax Only IRBs 
 

 
 
Summary: 
 
 CY Edgerton LLC operates a surface container storage lot at the southeast corner of 191st Street and Homestead 
Lane. CY Edgerton constructed this lot in 2016. The City issued industrial revenue bonds at that time to allow CY 
Edgerton to benefit from a sales tax project exemption certificate. The prior bond issue has since matured. The project did 
not receive property tax abatement. 
 
 CY Edgerton now desires to construct an expansion to the existing surface container storage lot. CY Edgerton is 
requesting that the City issue up to $12 million in industrial revenue bonds so that the expansion project is eligible for a 
sales tax project exemption certificate. The City will require a $25,000 origination fee for issuing the industrial revenue 
bonds. 
 

No ad valorem property tax abatement is being granted for this project. 
 
Public Hearing/Cost-Benefit Report 
 
 KSA 12-1749d only requires a cost-benefit report and public hearing for the issuance of industrial revenue bonds 
when the project will be eligible for an exemption from ad valorem taxation.  Accordingly, a cost-benefit report has not 
been completed and a public hearing is not being held. 
 
Resolution of Intent 
 
 The Resolution of Intent evidences the City’s intent to issue the industrial revenue bonds. 
 
Ordinance 
 
 The Ordinance authorizes the City to issue the industrial revenue bonds and enter into the bond documents. The 
bond documents consist of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Trust Indenture and Bond Purchase Agreement. The bond 
documents are in substantially the same form as the 2016 bond issue. 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21C 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DETERMINING THE INTENT OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS, TO ISSUE ITS TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE 
BONDS IN THE APPROXIMATE AMOUNT OF $12,000,000 TO PAY THE 
COST OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING AND EQUIPPING A 
COMMERCIAL FACILITY FOR THE BENEFIT OF CY EDGERTON LLC 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), desires to promote, stimulate and develop the 

general welfare and economic prosperity of the City and its inhabitants and to further promote, stimulate and 
develop the general welfare and economic prosperity of the state of Kansas; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized and empowered under the provisions of K.S.A. 12-1740 to 
12-1749d, inclusive (the “Act”), to issue industrial revenue bonds to pay the cost of certain facilities (as 
defined in the Act) for the purposes set forth in the Act and to lease or sublease such facilities to private 
persons or entities; and 

 
WHEREAS, CY Edgerton LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the “Company”), has requested 

the City to issue its industrial revenue bonds in the approximate principal amount of $12,000,000 (the 
“Bonds”), for the purpose of financing the cost of acquiring, constructing, improving and equipping an 
expansion to an existing surface container storage lot and constructing improvements to the site (the “Project”) 
located at the southeast corner of 191st Street and Homestead Lane in Edgerton, Kansas, and to sublease the 
Project to the Company all pursuant to the Act; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is found and determined to be advisable and in the interest and for the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants that the City issue the Bonds pursuant to the Act, such Bonds to be payable solely out 
of rentals, revenues and receipts derived from the sublease of the Project by the City to the Company, or its 
successors or assigns, as lessee; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is not granting an exemption from ad valorem taxes for the Project; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 

EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  Approval of Project.  The Governing Body of the City finds and determines that the 
acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project will promote, stimulate and develop the general welfare 
and economic prosperity of the City through the promotion and advancement of commercial development of 
the City and the issuance of the Bonds to pay such costs will be in furtherance of the public purposes set forth 
in the Act. 
 

Section 2.  Intent to Issue Bonds.  The Governing Body of the City determines and declares the intent 
of the City to assist the Company in completing the Project through the issuance of the Bonds pursuant to the 
Act. 

 
Section 3.  Provision for the Bonds.  Subject to the conditions of this Resolution, the City will (i) 

issue its Bonds to pay the costs of acquiring, constructing, improving and equipping the Project, with such 
maturities, interest rates, redemption terms and other provisions as may be determined by ordinance of the 
City; (ii) provide for the sublease (with an option to purchase) of the Project to the Company; and (iii) to 
effect the foregoing, adopt such resolutions and ordinances and authorize the execution and delivery of such 



 2 

instruments and the taking of such action as may be necessary or advisable for the authorization and issuance 
of the Bonds by the City and take or cause to be taken such other action as may be required to implement this 
Resolution. 
 

Section 4.  No Ad Valorem Tax Exemption.  No exemption from ad valorem taxes shall result from 
the issuance of the Bonds. 

 
Section 5.  Conditions to Issuance.  The issuance of the Bonds and the execution and delivery of any 

documents related to the Bonds are subject to: 
 
(i)  obtaining any necessary governmental approvals; 
 
(ii)  agreement by the City, the Company and the purchaser of the Bonds upon (a) mutually acceptable 

terms for the Bonds and for the sale and delivery thereof, and (b) mutually acceptable terms and conditions of 
any documents related to the issuance of the Bonds and the Project, including, but not limited to, provisions 
relating to the security for the payment of the Bonds and provisions relating to the maintenance of the Project; 

 
(iii)  payment of all costs of issuance of the Bonds and all other costs and fees of the City, including the 

City’s origination fee; and 
 
(iv)  compliance with the Act relating to the issuance of industrial revenue bonds and ad valorem tax 

exemption. 
 

Section 6.  Sale of the Bonds/Authority to Proceed.  The sale of the Bonds shall be the responsibility 
of the Company, but arrangements for the sale of the Bonds shall be subject to the City’s approval.  The 
Company is authorized to proceed with the acquisition and completion of the Project (provided all other City 
approvals and permits have been obtained) and to advance such funds as may be necessary to accomplish 
such purposes, and to the extent permitted by law, the City shall reimburse the Company for such 
expenditures out of the proceeds of the Bonds, when and if issued.  Notwithstanding such authorization, the 
Company proceeds at its own risk and if for any reason, the Bonds are not issued, the City shall have no 
liability to the Company for any reason.  The Act provides that the City may only issue the Bonds by adoption 
of an ordinance authorizing the Bonds and providing for the terms and details of the Bonds.  The City has not 
yet adopted an ordinance.  This Resolution only evidences the intent of the current Governing Body to issue 
Bonds for the Project.  Nothing herein shall be construed as a guaranty by the City that the Bonds will be 
issued.  

 
Section 7.  Assignment.  The Company may, without the consent of the City but with advance written 

notice to the City, assign all or a portion of its interest in this Resolution to any Affiliated Entity or, with the 
prior written consent of the City, to another entity, provided such assignee intends to acquire, equip and 
construct the Project.  For the purposes of this Resolution, “Affiliated Entity” means any entity or person 
directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the 
Company.  “Control,” when used with respect to a particular entity or person, means the possession, directly 
or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management and policies of such entity whether 
through the ownership of voting stock, by contract or otherwise.  The Company may assign all or a portion of 
its interest in this Resolution to any party that is not an Affiliated Entity only with the consent of the City. 

 
Section 8.  Limited Obligations of the City.  The Bonds and the interest thereon shall be special, 

limited obligations of the City payable solely out of the rents, revenues and receipts of the City derived from 
the sublease of the Project to the Company.  The Bonds shall not constitute a general obligation of the City, 
the State of Kansas or any other political subdivision thereof, shall not constitute a pledge of the full faith and 



 3 

credit of the City, the State of Kansas or any other political subdivision thereof and shall not be payable in any 
manner by taxation. 

 
Section 9.  Origination Fee.  The City will charge an origination fee of $25,000 for the issuance of the 

Bonds.  The origination fee shall be due in full at the time the Bonds are issued. 
 

Section 10.  Further Action.  SA Legal Advisors LC, Bond Counsel for the City, and officers and 
employees of the City, are authorized to work with the purchaser of the Bonds, the Company, their respective 
counsel and others, to prepare for submission to and final action by the City all documents necessary to effect 
the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds and other actions contemplated hereunder. 

 
Section 11.  Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately after its 

adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 

ADOPTED May 27, 2021. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 

       _______________________________________ 
       Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
[SEAL] 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
Council Meeting Date:   May 27, 2021 
 
Agenda Item: Resolution of Intent and Ordinance 
 
Subject:   CY Edgerton LLC Expansion Project 
 
Hearing Notice Published:   Not Required for Sales Tax Only IRBs 
 

 
 
Summary: 
 
 CY Edgerton LLC operates a surface container storage lot at the southeast corner of 191st Street and Homestead 
Lane. CY Edgerton constructed this lot in 2016. The City issued industrial revenue bonds at that time to allow CY 
Edgerton to benefit from a sales tax project exemption certificate. The prior bond issue has since matured. The project did 
not receive property tax abatement. 
 
 CY Edgerton now desires to construct an expansion to the existing surface container storage lot. CY Edgerton is 
requesting that the City issue up to $12 million in industrial revenue bonds so that the expansion project is eligible for a 
sales tax project exemption certificate. The City will require a $25,000 origination fee for issuing the industrial revenue 
bonds. 
 

No ad valorem property tax abatement is being granted for this project. 
 
Public Hearing/Cost-Benefit Report 
 
 KSA 12-1749d only requires a cost-benefit report and public hearing for the issuance of industrial revenue bonds 
when the project will be eligible for an exemption from ad valorem taxation.  Accordingly, a cost-benefit report has not 
been completed and a public hearing is not being held. 
 
Resolution of Intent 
 
 The Resolution of Intent evidences the City’s intent to issue the industrial revenue bonds. 
 
Ordinance 
 
 The Ordinance authorizes the City to issue the industrial revenue bonds and enter into the bond documents. The 
bond documents consist of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Trust Indenture and Bond Purchase Agreement. The bond 
documents are in substantially the same form as the 2016 bond issue. 
 
 
 



[Summary Published in The Gardner News on June 2, 2021] 
 
 
 ORDINANCE NO.  2080 
 
 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING BOND DOCUMENTS AND THE ISSUANCE 

OF THE CITY’S TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (CY EDGERTON 
LLC PROJECT) SERIES 2021, FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING THE 
EXPANSION OF AN EXISTING SURFACE CONTAINER STORAGE LOT. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), is authorized pursuant to the provisions of 
K.S.A. 12-1740 to 12-1749d, inclusive, as amended (the “Act”), to acquire, purchase, construct, install and 
equip certain commercial and industrial facilities, and to issue industrial revenue bonds for the purpose of 
paying the cost of such facilities, and to lease such facilities to private persons, firms or corporations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City has heretofore and does now find and determine that it 
is desirable in order to promote, stimulate and develop the general economic welfare and prosperity of the 
City and the State of Kansas that the City issue its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (CY Edgerton LLC 
Project) Series 2021, in an aggregate maximum principal amount not to exceed $12,000,000, for the purpose 
of acquiring, constructing and equipping a commercial project, consisting of the expansion of an existing 
surface container storage lot located at the southeast corner of 191st Street and Homestead Lane in Edgerton, 
Kansas, including buildings, structures, improvements, fixtures, machinery and equipment (the “Project”), 
and that the City lease the Project to CY Edgerton LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the “Company”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City further finds and determines that it is necessary and 
desirable in connection with the issuance of these bonds that the City enter into certain agreements, and that 
the City take certain other actions and approve the execution of certain other documents as herein provided; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. Authorization for the Acquisition, Purchase, Construction, Installation and 
Equipping of the Project.  The City is hereby authorized to provide for the acquisition, purchase, 
construction, installation, rehabilitation and equipping of the Project, all in the manner and as more particularly 
described in the Indenture and the Lease hereinafter authorized. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization of and Security for the Bonds.  The City is hereby authorized to 
issue and sell its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (CY Edgerton LLC Project) Series 2021, in an aggregate 
maximum principal amount not to exceed $12,000,000 (the “Bonds”), for the purpose of providing funds to 
pay the cost of acquiring, purchasing, constructing, installing and equipping the Project.  The Bonds shall be 
issued and secured pursuant to the herein authorized Indenture and shall bear such date, shall mature at such 
time, shall be in such denominations, shall bear interest at such rates, shall be in such form, shall be subject to 
redemption and other terms and conditions, and shall be issued in such manner, subject to such provisions, 
covenants and agreements, as are set forth in the hereafter defined Indenture.  The Bonds shall be payable 
solely out of the rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from the Project, and the Project and the net 
earnings derived by the City from the Project shall be pledged and assigned to the hereafter defined Trustee 
as security for payment of the Bonds as provided in the Indenture. 
 
 Section 3. Authorization of Documents.  The City is hereby authorized to enter into the 
following documents, in substantially the forms presented to and reviewed by the Council of the City (copies 



2 
 

of which documents, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk), with such changes 
therein as shall be approved by the officers of the City executing such documents, such officers’ signatures 
thereon being conclusive evidence of their approval thereof: 
 
  (a) Trust Indenture dated the date set forth therein (the “Indenture”), between the City 

and BOKF, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), pursuant to which the Bonds shall be issued and the City 
shall pledge the Project and assign the rents, revenues and receipts received pursuant to the hereafter 
defined Lease to the Trustee for the benefit of and security of the holder of the Bonds upon the terms 
and conditions as set forth in said form of Indenture; 

 
  (b) Base Lease Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Base Lease”), between 

the Company and the City, under which the City will lease the project site from the Company; 
 
  (c) Lease Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Lease”), between the City and 

the Company, under which the City will agree to use the proceeds derived from the sale of the Bonds 
for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, constructing, installing and equipping the Project and to 
sublease the Project to the Company, and the Company will agree to make payments in amounts 
sufficient to provide for the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on 
the Bonds as the same become due; and 

 
  (d) Bond Purchase Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Bond Purchase 

Agreement”), between the City and the Company, as Purchaser. 
 
 Section 4. Execution of Bond and Documents.  The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute the Bonds and to deliver the Bonds to the Trustee for authentication for and on behalf 
of and as the act and deed of the City in the manner provided in the Indenture.  The Mayor of the City is 
hereby authorized and directed to execute the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease, the Bond Purchase 
Agreement and such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry 
out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance, for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City.  The 
City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to the Bonds, 
the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement and such other documents, certificates 
and instruments as may be necessary. 
 
 Section 5. Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officers, employees and agents of the 
City are hereby authorized and directed to, take such action, expend such funds and execute such other 
documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the 
intent of this Ordinance and to carry out, comply with and perform the duties of the City with respect to the 
Bonds, the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease and the Bond Purchase Agreement. 
 
 Section 6. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 
passage, approval and publication in summary form in the official City newspaper. 
 
  



3 
 

 PASSED by the Council of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, this 27th day of May, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
[SEAL] 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CY Edgerton LLC Ordinance 





instruct the public officer and Codes Enforcement Officer to cause the property to be repaired 
and made safe as is allowed in Section 8-311.  
 
Resolution No. 05-27-21D also states that any and all costs incurred by the City of Edgerton, 
including attorneys’ fees, shall be charged against the property as provided in Section 8-314, 
by having the City Clerk certify the costs of cleanup to Johnson County Clerk to be collected 
by the County Treasurer and paid to the City of Edgerton as other City taxes are collected and 
paid. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  – Edgerton City Code Chapter VIII, Article 3 
 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 

 
 
Enclosed: 

• Edgerton City Code Chapter VIII, Article 3 
• Resolution 5-27-21X 
• Photos of 1110 W. 7th Street 

 
Prepared by: Katy Crow, Development Services Director 
  
 

Recommendation: Approve Resolution No. 05-27-21D Providing for a 
Deadline of June 21, 2021 to Restore the Exterior Condition of the 
Property at 1110 W. 7th Street, Edgerton, Kansas Pursuant to Edgerton 
City Code Chapter VIII, Article 3, Section 8-308. 

















RESOLUTION NO. 05-27-21D 
 
A RESOLUTION IN THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, PROVIDING FOR A DEADLINE OF 
JUNE 21, 2021, TO RESTORE THE EXTERIOR CONDITON OF THE PROPERTY AT 1110 
WEST 7TH STREET IN THE CITY OF EDGERTON, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS PURSUANT 
TO THE CITY OF EDGERTON CITY CODE, CHAPTER VIII, ARTICLE 3. 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 15, 2020 it was reported to the Development Services Director 
of the City of Edgerton by Johnson County Fire District #1, that there had been a fire in the 
residence located at 1110 W. 7th Street, Edgerton, Kansas (the “Property”), and the windows and 
doors at the residence were damaged during the extinguishing of the fire; and  
 

WHEREAS given the immediate hazard to the public of possible access to the property as 
a result of the fire, the doors and windows at the Property were boarded up with plywood by the 
City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the owner of the Property, Mikkel Allenbrand, whose whereabouts are 
unknown, has made no attempt to remedy or repair the exterior of the structure by repairing the 
damaged windows and doors at the Property so that the residence could return to a habitable 
condition; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 8-308 of the Edgerton Municipal Code it is unlawful for any 
person to allow to exist on any residential premises an exterior condition that is deteriorated, 
dilapidated, or unsightly; and  

 
WHERAS, pursuant to Section 8-309 of the Edgerton City Code, notice was mailed and 

posted on the Property providing the owner ten (10) days to either abate the violation or request 
a hearing before the governing body to discuss the nuisance; and  

 
WHEREAS, such notice was mailed to the Property owner and posted on the Property on 

May 4, 2021.  No actions were taken by the owner and the Property remains in violation on 8-
308; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 8-311, as an alternative to prosecution the public officer 

may seek to remedy the violations of this Article by presenting a resolution to the governing body 
for adoption authorizing the public officer or other agents of the city to abate the conditions 
causing the violation at the end of 10 days after passage of the resolution; and 

 
WHEREAS, the resolution shall further provide that the costs incurred by the city shall be 

charged against the lot or parcel of ground on which the nuisance was located as provided in 
Section 8-314 of the Municipal Code; and 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, CITY OF EDGERTON, JOHNSON COUNTY, 
KANSAS:   
 

That pursuant to Section 8-308 of the Municipal Code, the City Council hereby finds that 
the existence of plywood over doors and windows and the accompanying fire damage are 
violations of the Municipal Code and the owner shall have until June 21, 2021 to abate this 



violation, by restoring the windows and doors to an operational and safe condition.  Should the 
violation not be abated to the satisfaction of the City by June 21, 2021 the City of Edgerton by 
its agent is hereby authorized to abate the conditions causing the violations and remove the 
plywood, repairing the doors and windows so as to remove the deteriorated, dilapidated, or 
unsightly exterior of the structure pursuant to 8-311. In addition, this resolution shall become 
effective after publication once each week for two consecutive weeks in the official city newspaper 
and by posting a copy of the resolution on the premises where this condition exists. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED:  
 
That should it be necessary to abate these conditions, any and all costs incurred by the 

City of Edgerton, Kansas, including attorneys’ fees, shall be charged against the above described 
property as provided in Section 8-314, and the City Clerk shall, at the time of certifying other 
taxes to the County Clerk, certify the costs of cleanup.  The County Clerk shall extend the same 
on the tax roll and it shall be collected by the County Treasurer and paid to the City of Edgerton 
as other City taxes are collected and paid.   
 
 PASSED by the City Council on this 27th day of May, 2021. 
 
 APPROVED by the Mayor on this 27th day of May, 2021. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
         
 
 
______________________________    ______________________________ 
ALEXANDRIA CLOWER, CITY CLERK   DONALD ROBERTS, MAYOR 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:       
 
 

________________    
LEE W. HENDRICKS, CITY ATTORNEY 
 



1110 W.7th Street – Violation of Chapter VIII, Article 3, Section 8-308 
 

 

 



1110 W.7th Street – Violation of Chapter VIII, Article 3, Section 8-308 
 

 

 





Recommendation: Approve Agreement With SWT Design for Glendell 
Acres Park Renovation Project, Pending Approval From City Attorney and 
City Engineer, Authorizing The Mayor to Execute the Agreement 

 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): N/A 

 
 
 
Funding Source: Park Impact Fee  
 
 
Budget Allocated:  $740,867 
 
 
Finance Director Approval:      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:   Draft Agreement for Professional Services 
    

 
Prepared by:    Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 
  
 



PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES 

AGREEMENT 
CONSULTANT-CLIENT

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of 
the ___________ day __________________________________, ____________ (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between ______________________________________., party of the first part, (the CONSULTANT), 
and CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, party of the second part, (the CLIENT).

WHEREAS, the CLIENT is authorized and empowered to contract with the CONSULTANT for the purpose 
of obtaining Professional Services for the following improvement/services (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Project”):

WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT is licensed in accordance with the laws of the State of Kansas and is qualified 
to perform the Professional Services desired by the CLIENT now therefore:

IT IS AGREED by and between the two parties aforesaid as follows:



SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed herein unless otherwise 
stated or reasonably required by this contract, and other forms of any defined words shall have a meaning 
parallel thereto.

1.1 “Additional Services” means any Services requested by the CLIENT which are not covered by 
Exhibit 1 of this Agreement.

1.2 “Agreement” means this contract and includes change orders issued in writing.

1.3 “CLIENT” or “Client” means the City of Edgerton.  

1.4 “CONSULTANT” or “Consultant” means the company identified on page 1 and any additional parties 
they might employ (upon the approval of CLIENT) to perform pursuant to this contract. 

1.5 “Contract Documents” means those documents so identified in the Agreement for this Project.. 
Terms defined in General Conditions shall have the same meaning when used in this Agreement 
unless otherwise specifically stated or in the case of a conflict in which case the definition used in 
this Agreement shall prevail in the interpretation of this Agreement.

1.6 “Engineering Documents” or “Architectural Documents” or “Survey Documents” means plans, 
specifications, reports, drawings, tracings, designs, calculations, computer models, sketches, notes, 
memorandums or correspondence related to the work described in Exhibit 1 attached hereto.

1.7 “Consulting Services” or “Engineering Services” or “Architectural Services” or “Survey Services” 
means the professional services, labor, materials, supplies, testing and other acts or duties required 
of the CONSULTANT under this Agreement, together with Additional Services as CLIENT may 
request and evidenced by a supplemental agreement pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

1.8 “Services” is a description of the required work as shown in Exhibit 1.

SECTION 2 – RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONSULTANT

2.1 SCOPE OF SERVICES: The CONSULTANT shall furnish and perform the various Professional Services 
of the Project to which this Agreement applies, as specifically provided in Exhibit 1 for the 
completion of the Project.

2.2 GENERAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

2.2.1. Personnel: The CONSULTANT shall assign qualified personnel to perform professional 
Services concerning the Project. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the parties 
anticipate that the following individual will perform as the principal point of contact on this 
Project.

Name:
Address:

Phone:



2.2.2. Standard of Care: In the performance of professional Services, CONSULTANT will use 
that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by reputable members of CONSULTANT’s 
profession currently practicing in the same locality under similar conditions. 

2.2.3. Independent Contractor: The CONSULTANT is an independent contractor and as such 
is not  an employee of the Client.

2.2.4. Insurance: CONSULTANT will maintain insurance for this Agreement, as specifically 
provided in Exhibit 2.

2.2.5. Subcontracting of Service: The CONSULTANT shall not subcontract or assign any of 
the Services to be performed under this Agreement without first obtaining the approval of 
the Client regarding the Services to be subcontracted or assigned and the firm or person 
proposed to perform the Services. Neither the CLIENT nor the CONSULTANT shall assign 
any rights or duties under this Agreement without the prior consent of the other party.

2.2.6. Endorsement: When applicable, the CONSULTANT shall sign and seal final plans, 
specifications, estimates and data furnished by the CONSULTANT according to Kansas 
Statutes and Rules and Regulations.

2.2.7. Force Majeure: Should performance of Services by CONSULTANT be affected by causes 
beyond its reasonable control, Force Majeure results. Force Majeure includes, but is not 
restricted to, acts of God; acts of a legislative, administrative or judicial entity; fires; floods; 
labor disturbances; epidemics; and unusually severe weather. CONSULTANT will be 
granted a reasonable time extension and the parties will negotiate an equitable adjustment 
to the price of any affected Work Order, where appropriate, based upon the effect of the 
Force Majeure on performance by CONSULTANT.

2.2.8. Inspection of Documents: The CONSULTANT shall maintain Project records for 
inspection by the CLIENT during the contract period and for five  (5) years from the date 
of final payment.

SECTION 3 – CLIENT RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1 GENERAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1.1. Communication: The CLIENT shall provide to the Consultant information and criteria 
regarding the CLIENT’s requirement for the Project; examine and respond in a timely 
manner to the Consultant’s submissions and give notice to the Consultant whenever the 
CLIENT observes or otherwise becomes aware of any defect in the Services. The CLIENT 
represents that all information they provide is accurate. CONSULTANT’S review and use of 
the information will be to the standard of care and any delays or additional costs due to 
inaccurate information will be the responsibility of the CLIENT.

3.1.2. Access: The CLIENT will provide access agreements for the Consultant to enter public and 
private property when necessary.

3.1.3. Duties: The CLIENT shall furnish and perform the various duties and Services in all phases 
of  the Project which are outlined and designated in Exhibit 1 as the CLIENT’s responsibility.

3.1.4. Program and Budget: The CLIENT shall provide full information stating the CLIENT’s 
objectives, schedule, budget with reasonable contingencies and necessary design criteria 
so that CONSULTANT  is able to fully understand the project requirements.



3.1.5. Testing: Any additional tests required to supplement the Scope of Services or tests 
required by law shall be furnished by the CLIENT.

3.1.6. Legal, Insurance, Audit: The CLIENT shall furnish all legal, accounting and insurance 
counseling Services as may be necessary at any time for the Project. The CLIENT shall 
furnish all bond forms required for the Project.

3.1.7. Project Representative: The CLIENT will assign the person indicated below to represent 
the CLIENT in coordinating this Project with the CONSULTANT, with authority to transmit 
instructions and define policies and decisions of the CLIENT.

Name:
Address:

Phone:

SECTION 4 – PAYMENT

4.1 COMPENSATION

4.1.1. Fee and Expense: The CLIENT agrees to pay the CONSULTANT a fee based on the actual  
hours expended on the Project at the rates indicated in the attached Fee Schedule; Exhibit 
3 and the actual reimbursable expenses permitted under this Agreement and incurred on 
the Project.  This fee is based on the scope of Services outlined in Exhibit 1 of this 
Agreement. Payment is due within thirty (30) days of billing by the CONSULTANT and any 
late payment will incur an interest charge of one (1) percent per month.

4.1.2. Hourly Rate: Any Additional Services which are not set forth in this Agreement will be 
charged on the basis of the hourly rate schedule attached hereto as Exhibit 3. No Additional 
Services or costs shall be incurred without proper written authorization of the CLIENT.

4.1.3. Reimbursable Expenses: Reimbursable expenses shall be charged following approval 
by CLIENT. Reimbursable expenses include, but are not limited to, expenses of 
transportation in connection with the Project; expenses in connection with authorized out-
of-town travel; expenses of printing and reproductions; postage; expenses of renderings 
and models requested by the CLIENT and other costs as authorized by the CLIENT. 

4.1.4. Billing: CONSULTANT shall bill the CLIENT monthly for services and reimbursable 
expenses according to Exhibit 3. The bill submitted by CONSULTANT shall itemize the 
services and reimbursable expenses for which payment is requested, notwithstanding any 
claim for interest or penalty claimed in a CONSULTANT’s invoice. The CLIENT agrees to 
pay within thirty (30)  days of billing by the CONSULTANT and any late payment will incur 
an interest charge of one and (1) percent per month.

4.1.5. Change in Scope: For modifications in authorized scope of services or project scope 
and/or modifications of drawings and/or specifications previously accepted by the CLIENT, 
when requested by the CLIENT and through no fault of the CONSULTANT, the 
CONSULTANT shall be compensated for time and expense required to incorporate such 
modifications at CONSULTANT’s standard hourly rates per Exhibit 3. CONSULTANT shall 
correct or revise errors or deficiencies in its designs, drawings or specifications without 
additional compensation when due to CONSULTANT’s negligence, error or omission.



4.1.6. Supplemental Agreement: This Agreement may be amended to provide for additions, 
deletions and revisions in the Services or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by 
written amendment signed by both parties. The contract price and contract time may only 
be changed by a written supplemental agreement approved by the CLIENT, unless it is the 
result of an emergency situation, in which case the CLIENT may give verbal, e-mail or 
facsimile approval which shall be the same as written and approved supplemental 
agreement.

SECTION 5 – MUTUAL PROVISIONS

5.1 TERMINATION

5.1.1. Notice: The CLIENT reserves the right to terminate this Agreement for either cause or for 
its convenience and without cause or default on the part of the CONSULTANT, by providing 
written notice of such termination to the CONSULTANT. Such notice will be with Twenty 
Four (24) hours' notice.

The CONSULTANT reserves the right to terminate this Agreement based on any material 
breach by the CLIENT, but only upon giving notice to CLIENT of the alleged breach and 
providing CLIENT thirty (30) days to cure such alleged breach.

Upon receipt of such notice from CLIENT, the CONSULTANT shall, at CLIENT’s option as 
contained in the notice; Immediately cease all Services and meet with CLIENT to determine 
what Services shall be required of the CONSULTANT in order to bring the Project to a 
reasonable termination in accordance with the request of the CLIENT. The CONSULTANT 
shall also provide to the CLIENT digital and/or mylar copies of drawings and documents 
completed or partially completed at the date of termination. The CONSULTANT is entitled 
to terminate this agreement by providing thirty (30) days written notice.

5.1.2. Compensation for Convenience Termination: If CLIENT shall terminate for its 
convenience,  as herein provided, CLIENT shall compensate CONSULTANT for all Services 
completed to date prior to receipt of the termination notice.

5.1.3. Compensation for Default Termination: If the CLIENT shall terminate for cause or 
default on the part of the CONSULTANT, the CLIENT shall compensate the CONSULTANT 
for the reasonable cost of Services completed to date of its receipt of the termination 
notice. Compensation shall not include anticipatory profit or consequential damages, 
neither of which will be allowed.

5.1.4. Incomplete Documents: Neither the CONSULTANT, nor its subconsultant, shall be 
responsible for errors or omissions in documents which are incomplete as a result of an 
early termination under this section, the CONSULTANT having been deprived of the 
opportunity to complete such documents and certify them as ready for construction and/or 
complete.

5.2 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

5.2.1. If a claim, dispute or controversy arises out of or relates to the interpretation, application, 
enforcement or performance of Services under this Agreement, CONSULTANT and CLIENT 
agree first to try in good faith to settle the dispute by negotiations between senior 
management of CONSULTANT and CLIENT. If such negotiations are unsuccessful, 
CONSULTANT and CLIENT agree to attempt to settle the dispute by good faith mediation. 
If the dispute cannot be settled through mediation, and unless otherwise mutually agreed, 
the dispute shall be settled by litigation in an appropriate court in Kansas. Except as 



otherwise provided herein, each party shall be responsible for its own legal costs and 
attorneys’ fees.

5.3 OWNERSHIP OF INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE

5.3.1. Reports, drawings, plans or other documents (or copies) furnished to CONSULTANT by the 
CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s written request, be returned upon completion of the Services 
hereunder.Reports, drawings, plans, documents, software, field notes and work product 
(or copies thereof) in any form prepared or furnished by CONSULTANT under this 
Agreement are instruments of service. Exclusive ownership, copyright and title to all 
instruments of service remain with CONSULTANT. CLIENT is hereby granted a License to 
Use instruments of service with use limited to use on this project. The instruments of 
service are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by CLIENT or others on 
extensions of the work or on any other project.

5.4 INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS

5.4.1. CLIENT shall indemnify and hold CONSULTANT, its officers and employees harmless from 
and against any claim, judgment, demand or cause of action to the extent caused by: (i) 
CLIENT’s breach of this Agreement; (ii) the negligent acts or omissions of CLIENT or its 
employees, contractors or agents.

5.4.2. CONSULTANT shall indemnify and hold CLIENT and its employees and officials from loss 
to the extent caused by: (i) CONSULTANT’S breach of this Agreement; (ii)  incurred as a 
result of the negligence, errors or omissions of the CONSULTANT, its officers or employees 
in performance of Services pursuant to this Agreement.

5.5 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

5.5.1. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all 
prior agreements, whether oral or written, covering the same subject matter. This 
Agreement may not  be modified or amended except in writing mutually agreed to and 
accepted by both parties to this Agreement.

5.6 APPLICABLE LAW

5.6.1. This Agreement is entered into under and pursuant to, and is to be construed and 
enforceable in accordance with laws of the State of Kansas.

5.7 ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENT

5.7.1. This Agreement shall not be assigned or transferred by either the CONSULTANT or the 
CLIENT without the written consent of the other.

5.8 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES

5.8.1. Nothing contained herein shall create a contractual relationship with, or any rights in favor 
of, any third party.

5.9 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

5.10.1 CONSULTANT shall abide by known applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances and 
regulations applicable to this Project until the Consulting Services required by this 
Agreement are completed consistent with the Professional Standard of Care. CONSULTANT 



shall secure occupational and professional licenses, permits, etc., from public and private 
sources necessary for the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement.

5.10 TITLES, SUBHEADS AND CAPITALIZATION
5.11.1 Titles and subheadings as used herein are provided only as a matter of convenience and 

shall have no legal bearing on the interpretation of any provision of the Agreement. Some 
terms are capitalized throughout the Agreement but the use of or failure to use capitals 
shall have no legal bearing on the interpretation of such terms.

5.11 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

5.11.1. Should any provision of this Agreement be determined to be void, invalid or unenforceable 
or illegal for whatever reason, such provisions shall be null and void; provided, however 
that the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be unaffected hereby and shall 
continue to be valid and enforceable.

5.12 FIELD REPRESENTATION

5.12.1. Unless otherwise expressly agreed to in writing, CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for 
the safety or direction of the means and methods at the contractor’s project site or their 
employees or agents, and the presence of CONSULTANT at the project site will not relieve 
the contractor of its responsibilities for performing the work in accordance with applicable 
regulations, or in accordance with project plans and specifications. If necessary, CLIENT 
will advise any contractors that Consultant’s Services are so limited. CONSULTANT will not 
assume the role of “prime contractor”, “constructor”, “controlling employer”, “supervisor” 
or their equivalents, unless the scope of such Services are expressly agreed to in writing.

5.13 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

5.13.1. The CONSULTANT and the CONSULTANT’s subconsultants shall have no responsibility for 
the discovery, presence, handling, removal or disposal or exposure of persons to hazardous 
materials in any form at the Project site.

5.14 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

5.14.1. The CONSULTANT agrees to comply with the provisions of K.S.A. 44-1030 in the Kansas 
Acts Against Discrimination.

5.15 SPECIAL PROVISIONS

5.15.1. Special Provisions may be attached and become a part of this agreement as Exhibit 4.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement  in  duplicate this day of
 , 20 .

CONSULTANT: CLIENT:

______________________________  
(Firm Name)

City of Edgerton, 
Kansas

 

 

 

END OF CONSULTANT-CLIENT AGREEMENT

By:  By:

Printed Name:   Printed Name:

Title:  Title:



 

t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  1  O F  8  

 

 
EXHIBIT 1 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
“GLENDELL ACRES PARK RENOVATION” 

 
 
The proposed scope of work to be performed by SWT and associated compensation is as follows: 
 
ARTICLE 1 SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
TASK 1: TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY 
 
Task 1a: Land Survey 
 
SWT will perform a topographic survey and include boundary information to be used in the renovation of 
Glendell Acres Park. The survey will show the existing concrete walk including the area between the properties 
located at 815 and 901 W. 4th Street to the street.  Public utilities will be marked as shown by Kansas Digrite. The 
survey will show encroachments and existing easements.  An easement will be plotted as needed to address the 
existing general utility easement on the two park parcels. The survey will locate the Western boundary line of 306 
W. Edgerton and the North boundary lines of 306 and 302 W. Edgerton (homes at south end). The City of 
Edgerton will provide documentation of the properties to SWT Design.  
 
Task 1b: As-Builts 
 
An as-built survey of the park will be created once the renovation has been completed. This will include locations 
of enhancements both horizontally and vertically.   
 

PRODUCTS OF TASK 1:  SWT Team shall produce clear, concise topographic survey that will be compliant for 
project scope.  SWT Team will provide survey information and documentation to Client in 
an appropriate format.  This information to include: 

 
 One (1) Topographic Survey CAD file  
 One (1) Topographic Survey PDF file 
 One (1) Topographic Survey print copy (upon request) 
 One (1) As-Built Survey file 

  
MEETINGS FOR TASK 1:  One (1) coordination meeting to review available documentation and discuss 

methods and schedule for survey work. 
 

 
TASK 2: COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT / PROGRAM CONFIRMATION/ SCHEMATIC DESIGN 
 
Task 2a: Kickoff Meeting - Attend project “kick-off” meeting with Client. Agenda for this meeting to include, but 
not limited to: 

• Confirm project schedule 
• Identify utility, internal, and external plan review / coordination entities 
• Review and discuss recent citizen survey information 
• Review and confirm engagement strategy 
• Site walk with project team  

 
 
 



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  2  O F  8  

 

Task 2b: Initial Community Engagement 01  
 

Task 2b.1: SWT will work with Client to distribute notification for an initial engagement meeting. This 
notification is desired to distributed through the schools to encourage families to attend the meeting.  
Additionally, City social media and website will be used to reinforce this messaging. 
 
Task 2b.2: Meeting will be held in the park (weather permitting) during a movie night with a focus on 
engaging with the community and receiving input on the community desires for the park improvements. 
Using aerial maps and recent community survey feedback as a basis for discussion, this meeting will be an 
open house. In addition, boards indicating different types of play, pavilions, active, and passive recreation 
opportunities will be provided gather feedback on preferences for park programming.  
 
Task 2b.3: Provide digital versions of information provided at movie night on City’s website or other online 
platform along with an online survey to collect information about preferences. This would be posted a few 
days after the in=park movie event.  

 
Task 2c: Program Development and Concept Plan Alternatives 
 

Task 2c.1: Summarize feedback and review with Client to identify priority program items for the park 
improvements based on information collection in the park on the digital survey. 
 
Task 2c.2: SWT to prepare two concept designs for the park improvements based on community input and 
priorities identified with Client. Concepts will be sketch plan graphics that represent the proposed program 
to a level of detail where quantity takeoffs and allowances can be identified to complete a budget check for 
each concept. Anticipated program will be confirmed with the community and staff but may include: 

• Playground  
• Shelter 
• Loop walking trail and connection(s) to the city trail and sidewalk network 
• Pump trail / skate park 
• Open green space 
• Lighting 
• Site furnishings 
• Landscape / Stormwater Management features 

 
Task 2c.3: Review concepts and order of magnitude cost opinions with Client in preparation for Community 
Engagement Meeting 02. SWT will revise plans based on Client feedback. 
 

Task 2d: Community Engagement 02  
 

Task 2d.1: SWT will present the two concept plans to the community for feedback on preferred direction 
or components from each concept they would like to see incorporated into the final design direction for 
the park improvements. The first event would be dedicated to the Glendell Acres Park project and could 
occur in the park again, or an indoor space provided by the City.   
Task 2d.2: SWT will be present for two hours of the July 3rd community picnic in Martins Park to share 
concept alternatives and gather feedback from the community. This is provided in addition to the 
dedicated event in the previous Task. 

 
Task 2d.3: Additionally, City social media and website will direct people to in-person meeting and an 
online survey to gather feedback from the Community.  

 
Task 2e: Final Program Confirmation/Schematic Design and  Mayor/City Council update 
 

Task 2e.1: SWT will refine a final park schematic design based on community input and update an order of 
magnitude cost opinion to reflect the consolidated design.  



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  3  O F  8  

 

 
Task 2e.2: Review schematic design and order of magnitude cost opinion with Client and make revisions 
based on Client feedback. 
 
Task 2e.3: Mayor and City Council Update Presentation 01 - SWT will present schematic design plan and 
order of magnitude cost opinion to the Mayor and City Council as a progress update and to receive their 
feedback and comments.  
 
Task 2e.4: An approved concept will be prepared based on feedback and coordination with Client following 
review with the Mayor and City Council.  This plan and order of magnitude cost option will establish the 
design and budget allocation direction for development of design documents in the next phase of work.  
 
 

PRODUCTS OF TASK 2:  SWT shall produce clear, concise drawings that will be compliant to project scope. Upon 
approval of the Schematic Design and costing items for establishment basis of design for 
the next phase of work this Task will be complete.  SWT will provide project information 
and documentation to Client in an appropriate format.   

 This information to include: 
  Approved Final Schematic Design Plan – rendered graphic plan  

 Approved final order of magnitude cost opinion - design services budgets 
 Summary reports for community engagement and Mayor/City Council feedback  

  
MEETINGS FOR TASK 2:  One (1) Kickoff Meeting / Site Visit  

 Three (3) Community Engagement Meetings 
 Two (2) Online Surveys to gather feedback from the Community 
 Two (2) Client Concept Design review – preliminary concepts and final concept 
 One (1) Mayor and City Council final concept design presentation  
 Weekly Client/ SWT Coordination Meetings – to reduce costs we propose virtual 

meetings for the most part, but milestones meeting like design reviews would be in-
person 

 
TASK 3: DESIGN SERVICES  
 
Task 3a: Design Development Documents 
 
Based on the park topographic survey, Client approved schematic design, and identified $550,000.00 
construction budget SWT shall prepare Design Development documents for the park improvements.  The scope 
of work to be performed by SWT is as follows: 
 
Task 3a.1:  Create Design Development documents for the park improvements based on Task 2 input and 
deliverables. Documents may include program items as identified below from the RFQ scope of work as well as 
others identified during Task 2.  Additional scope items that result in increased project budget or design 
complexity that require outside specialty consultants may qualify as Additional Services and will be reviewed and 
approved with Client before proceeding. RFQ identified scope of work items include:   
 

• Playground  
• Shelter 
• Loop walking trail and connection(s) to the city trail and sidewalk network 
• Pump trail / skate park 
• Open green space 
• Lighting  
• Landscape / Buffer Planting 
• Stormwater management 
• Site Furnishings 



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  4  O F  8  

 

Task 3a.2:  Develop a preliminary estimate of probable construction costs based on Design Development 
Drawings and compare with Task 2 established budget allocation.  
 
Task 3a.3:  Meet with Client to review the Design Development drawing(s) and Cost Opinion.  Evaluate drawings 
and costs to create an approved drawing package and budget (1 meeting). 
 
Task 3a.4:  SWT will assist Client in the selection of playground equipment, design, and manufacturer with the 
understanding that all equipment will be purchased directly by the Client and installed by the project general 
contractor. 

• SWT to prepare playground equipment and surfacing design bid package based on approved design 
development layout.  Package to include site plan with playground area, narrative description of design 
intent, and identification of budget for play equipment, surfacing, and installation. 

• SWT will issue playground and surfacing package to selected playground vendor(s) and coordinate with 
vendor(s) to address questions during the bid period. 

• SWT will collect playground submittals and schedule a design review meeting with Client to review 
submittals and select a playground vendor. 

• Following selection of vendor, SWT will work with the chosen vendor and Client to modify submittal 
and/or site plan as needed to meet Client playground goals and budget. 

• SWT to incorporate final playground design into construction document bid package.  General 
Contractor will be responsible for playground installation and will be required to use the selected 
manufacturer’s certified/approved installer for this work. 

 
Task 3a.5: Community Engagement 03 - SWT will present a Client-reviewed final Design Development site plan 
and selected park amenities package to the community for their review and as a project progress update. 
Feedback received will be reviewed with Client and taken into consideration for refinement of design details in 
the Construction Documents task. This meeting is more about sharing the final design rather than gathering 
feedback to refine the design. As such, we propose one in-person meeting either in the park or an indoor City 
facility to review this with the community. We also propose sharing the plans on the City’s website, but do not 
recommend providing an online survey for the community engagement session.  
 
Task 3a.6: Mayor and City Council Update Presentation 02 - SWT will present the Design Development 
package to the Mayor and City Council for their review and as a project progress update. Feedback received will 
be reviewed with Client and taken into consideration for refinement of design details in the Construction 
Document task.  
 
Products of Task 3a: 
SWT shall produce clear, concise drawings depicting defined project scope including: 

• One (1) 24” x 36” Client approved Site Plan  
• Client approved Order-of-Magnitude Cost Opinion 
• Playground Equipment and Surfacing selection 

 
Meetings for Task 3a: 
 

• Two (2) Design Development and Budget Review Meetings: one prior to community/council 
presentations and one following these presentations as confirmation before starting Task 3b 

• One (1) Community Update Meeting  
• One (1) Mayor and City Council Update Meeting 
• One (1) Playground Design Submittal Review and Selection Meeting with Client 
• Weekly Client/ SWT coordination meetings - to reduce costs we propose virtual meetings for the most 

part, but milestones meeting like design reviews would be in-person 
 
 



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  5  O F  8  

 

Task 3b: Construction Documents 
 
Construction Documents will be based upon the Client’s approval of Design Development documents, selected 
playground equipment, and budget developed for the project site work. 
 
Task 3b.1:  Prepare Construction Documents adequate to confirm pricing and final scope of the Project.  Fix and 
describe the size and character of the Project elements in terms of size, shape, and appearance.  Construction 
Documents and plans to include the elements described in Task 3a.  Provide plans, sections, elevations, typical 
construction details, schedules, and final materials selections as needed. 
 
Task 3b.2:  Prepare technical specifications stating materials or products to be used.  Provide samples and/or 
cut sheets of selected fixtures, furniture, site amenities, and finish materials. 
 
Task 3b.3:  Prepare estimate of probable costs and participate in cost opinion evaluation sessions with Client. 
 
Task 3b.4:  Meet with Client to review 50% Construction Document drawings and Cost Opinion (1 meeting).   
 
Task 3b.5:  Meet with Client to review 95% Construction Document drawings (1 meeting). 
 
Products of Task 3b:   
SWT will provide the Client with one (1) set of reproducible drawings and one (1) set of bid specifications 
including an Order-of-Magnitude Cost Opinion.  All drawings will be completed according to the specifications 
outlined in this Agreement.  An electronic copy of the data will be provided in AutoCAD 2018 or later format. 
 
Meetings for Task 3b: 

• One (1) Design and Budget Review Meeting with Client 
• One (1) 50% Construction Document and Order-of-Magnitude Cost Opinion Review with Client 
• One (1) 95% Construction Document and Order-of-Magnitude Cost Opinion Review with Client 
• Weekly Client/ SWT coordination meetings - to reduce costs we propose virtual meetings for the most 

part, but milestones meeting like design reviews would be in-person 
 
TASK 4: IMPLEMENTATION SERVICES  
The proposed scope of work includes: 
 
Task 4a: Bidding / Negotiation / Award 
 
Task 4a.1:  Coordinate and provide bid package for distribution to contractors. Issue bid package to Drexel 
Technologies, or other agreed upon print shop or online plan room(s), for reproduction needs and distribution 
to contractors. 
 
Task 4a.2:  Provide addenda and clarification drawings as required.  Update Construction Documents 
incorporating addenda into bid documents during bidding. 
 
Task 4a.3:  Conduct pre-bid meeting to answer project related questions and familiarize bidding contractors with 
the project. 
 
Task 4a.5:  Attend bid opening and assist the Client with the qualification of bidders and evaluation of their bids. 
 
Task 4a.6:  Provide awarded Contractor with final set of construction drawings (AutoCAD & PDF) and 
specifications including addenda. 
 
 
 



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  6  O F  8  

 

Meetings for Task 4a: 
 

• One (1) Pre-bid Meeting – Client and Bidding Contractors 
• One (1) Public Bid Opening / Bid Evaluation Meeting with Client 
• One (1) Mayor and City Council Meeting for Client Presentation of Recommended Contractor 
• Weekly Client/ SWT coordination meetings 

 
Task 4b: Construction Observation 
 
Task 4b.1 As part of the Basic Design Services, SWT shall visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of 
construction, or as otherwise agreed upon in writing by the Client and SWT, to observe the progress and quality 
of the work (“Work”) completed by the contractor or contractors for this Project.  Such visits and observation are 
not intended to be an exhaustive check or a detailed inspection of the Work, but rather are to allow SWT, as an 
experienced professional, to become generally familiar with the Work in progress and to determine, in general, if 
the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Construction Documents. 
 
Based on this general observation, SWT shall keep the Client informed about the progress of the Work and shall 
endeavor to guard the Client against deficiencies in the Work. 
 
SWT shall not supervise, direct, or have control over the Work, nor have any responsibility for the construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures selected by the Contractor, nor for the Contractor’s 
safety precautions or programs in connection with the Work.  These rights and responsibilities are solely those of 
the Contractor in accordance with the Construction Documents. 
 
SWT shall not be responsible for any acts or omissions of the Contractor, subcontractor, any entity performing 
any portions of the Work, or any agents or employees of any of them.  SWT does not guarantee the performance 
of the Contractor and shall not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perfume Work in accordance with 
the Construction Documents or any applicable laws, codes, rules, or regulations. 
 
Task 4b.2:  Conduct pre-construction meeting with the selected Contractor prior to beginning of construction.  
Meeting intended to review project schedule, submittal process, Client requirements, etc. 
 
Task 4b.3:  SWT shall review and approve or take other appropriate action on the Contractor submittals, such as 
shop drawings, product data, samples, and other data which the Contractor is required to submit, but only for 
the limited purpose of checking for conformance with the design concept and the information shown in the 
Construction Documents.  This review shall not include review of the accuracy or completeness of details, such 
as quantities, dimensions, weights or gauges, fabrication processes, construction means or methods, 
coordination of the Work with other trades, or construction safety precautions, all of which are the sole 
responsibility of the Contractor.  SWT’s review shall be conducted with reasonable promptness, while allowing 
sufficient time in SWT’s judgment to permit adequate review. SWT shall report to the Client as soon as possible 
any deficiencies it discovers in such review.  Review of a specific item shall not indicate that SWT has reviewed 
the entire assembly of which the item is a component.  SWT shall not be responsible for any deviations from the 
Construction Documents not brought to the attention of SWT in writing by the Contractor.  SWT shall not be 
required to review partial submissions or those for which submissions of correlated items have not been 
received. 
 
Task 4b.4:  Review mock-ups of materials for approval regarding workmanship and quality. 
 
Task 4b.5:  SWT shall maintain throughout the term of the Project copies of all shop drawings, mock-ups, and 
revised Construction Documents. 
 
Task 4b.6:  Provide field review of site construction, answer questions, and respond to Requests for Information 
(RFI), attend construction meetings, and prepare punch lists and final closeout. 
 



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St .  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  MO 64108     Page  7  O F  8  

 

Task 4b.7:  SWT shall review Contractor’s payment requests to confirm invoiced work has been completed or 
purchased.  Following review, SWT will notify contractor of required changes or submit approved pay application 
to Client for payment. 
 
Task 4b.8:  SWT shall perform a punchlist review of project with Client following notice of substantial 
completion and submittal of initial punchlist from Contractor. SWT will prepare a punchlist review report and 
submit to Contractor for completion.  Once complete SWT will perform a final project review with Client and 
Contractor to ensure all punchlist items have been completed and Client has received all documentation from 
Contractor.  
 
Meetings for Task 4b: 

• Pre-construction Kick-off Meeting with Selected Contractor 
• On-site Observation Meetings (bi-weekly Contractor update meetings and as needed for specific site 

review or coordination items, not to exceed 15 man-trips total) 
• One (1) Punch List Review Site Visit with Client  
• One (1) Final Site Review Meeting with Client and Contractor  
• Weekly Client/ SWT coordination meetings – we anticipate the majority of these would be in-person and 

on-site, however when topic discussion  
 

 
End of Scope of Work 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





EXHIBIT 2

CITY OF EDGERTON, KS
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR DESIGN & CONSULTING SERVICES - 2020

Consultant shall procure and maintain at its sole cost and expense, the following insurance coverage for 
the duration of the project and for a period of at least two (2) years (five years for professional liability 
insurance) following termination of this agreement, with minimum acceptable limits as follows:  

(1) COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
$1,000,000 Per Occurrence
$2,000,000 Aggregate

Coverage shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 0001 or equivalent.  Endorsements or policy 
provisions that limit contractual liability are not acceptable.  It shall also name City, it’s officers, 
officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds on a primary basis, not contributing with 
any insurance maintained by the additional insured, using ISO additional insured endorsement CG 
2010, or its equivalent, copies of which are required to be attached to the certificate of insurance.  
 
(2) WORKERS COMPENSATION - STATUTORY & EMPLOYERS LIABILITY

$100,000 Each Accident
$500,000 Policy Limit - Disease
$100,000 Each Employee – Disease

Coverage shall apply to all workers and employees related to the work, including sole proprietors, 
partners, members of an LLC, and officers of a corporation, regardless of whether or not such 
persons come under the statutory requirements to carry this coverage.  Firms domiciled outside 
the state of Kansas must have “other states” coverage in effect.

(3) PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY / ERRORS & OMISSIONS
$1,000,000 Per Claim
$2,000,000 Aggregate

This coverage, shall apply to actual or alleged negligent wrongful acts, errors or omissions 
resulting in claim(s) for damages related to the work involving the operations of Consultant, 
and/or its sub-Consultant(s) if any are utilized in the completion of the work. If such policy is 
“claims-made” form, the retroactive date must be shown and must be before the date of the 
Agreement or the beginning of work set forth in the Agreement.  This insurance must be 
maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least Five (5) years after 
termination of this Agreement.  If coverage is canceled or non-renewed and not replaced with 
another “claims-made” policy form with a Retroactive Date prior to the Agreement effective date, 
Consultant must purchase “extended reporting period” (tail) coverage for a minimum period 
representing at least Five (5) years after termination of this agreement. 



CITY OF EDGERTON, KS
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR DESIGN & CONSULTING SERVICES – 2020, CONT’D

 (4) WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

Consultant, and in addition, its insurers, through policy endorsement, and to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, waives all rights against City, it’s officers, officials, employees, and agents for 
recovery of damages to the extent that these damages are covered by commercial general liability, 
commercial umbrella liability, business auto liability or workers compensation and employers 
liability insurance maintained per the requirements stated above.

 (5) CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

Prior to commencing the work, Consultant shall furnish an acceptable certificate(s) of insurance, 
identifying insurers that write Consultant’s coverages, with minimum Best’s Guide Rating of A- 
and Class VIII or better, and authorized to do business in the state of Kansas.  Certificate will 
evidence the required coverage and endorsements stated above.  Should any of the above 
described policies be cancelled or non-renewed, the City shall first be provided 30 days prior 
written notice, except 10 days for non-payment of premium.  This cancellation provision shall be 
indicated on the certificate of insurance.  City also reserves the right to obtain copies of 
Consultant’s policies to validate coverage in effect if certificates are ambiguous.  Annually, 
Consultant agrees to provide a new/replacement formal certificate of insurance five (5) days prior 
to the expiration date.  If any portion of the work is to be subcontracted, Consultant shall require 
that the subcontracted Consultant(s) shall comply with the same indemnification agreement terms 
and be required to provide and maintain all insurance coverages and provisions as stated above, 
with a formal certificate of insurance acceptable to City evidencing same.  Self-Insured retentions 
must be declared to and approved by City.  If consultant is self-insured for any of the above 
coverages, such self-insurance must be approved by City, which may require written guarantees 
for payment of self insured 
losses and related investigation, administration, and defense costs.  And it must provide claims 
handling procedures acceptable to the City.  Acceptance of any certificate that does not comply 
with the above requirements shall not operate as a waiver of Consultant’s obligations hereunder.  
And the fact that insurance is obtained by Consultant shall not be deemed to release or diminish 
the liability of Consultant including, without limitation, liability under the indemnity provisions of 
this contract.  Damages recoverable by City shall not be limited by the amount of the required 
insurance coverage.  Consultant shall notify City in writing as soon as possible after any occurrence 
that could potentially lead to any lawsuit and/or after it receives notice or knowledge of any 
demand, claim, cause of action, lawsuit, or action arising out of the work performed under this 
contract.



 

t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St r eet ,  S te.  202.  |  Kansas C i ty ,  M O 64108  Page  1  O F  3  

 

 
EXHIBIT 2 

COST AND SCHEDULE 
“GLENDELL ACRES PARK RENOVATION” 

 
 

ARTICLE 1: COMPENSATION and PAYMENTS 
The fee for services outlined in this proposal is $87,780.00, including direct expenses as defined in Article 2.  
 

Task 1: Topographic Survey and As-Builts Total:               $15,190.00 

Task 2: Community Engagement / Schematic Design Total:     $19,530.00 

Task 3: Design Services:    
Task 2a: Design Development     $19,765.00 
Task 2b: Construction Documents     $14,365.00 

Task 3 Total:       $34,130.00 

Task 4: Implementation Services: 
Task 3a: Bidding/Negotiation/Award    $ 3,500.00 
Task 3b: Construction Observation     $15,430.00 
Task 3 Total:       $18,930.00 

Project Total       $87,780.00 
 
SWT will bill on a percentage of completion basis per task. Invoices will be emailed during the first week of each 
month.  If a US Postal Service delivered invoice is required, please make the request in writing.   
 
Unless otherwise agreed, payments for services shall me made monthly in proportion to services performed.  
Payments are due and payable thirty (30) days from the date printed on the invoice.  Undisputed amounts 
unpaid thirty-one (31) days after the invoice’s printed date may be assessed a late fee at a rate per annum, one 
percent (1%) over the prime rate as reported by The Wall Street Journal.   
 
 
ARTICLE 2 DIRECT EXPENSES 
 
Direct Expenses are included in “Article 1 Compensation.” Direct expenses include mileage, lodging (surveyor 
only), and printing costs. This excludes any permitting or submittal fees to local or state agencies. We do not 
anticipate it being necessary for this project though.  
 
 
ARTICLE 3 ADDITIONAL SERVICES AND HOURLY RATES 
 
Additional Services shall be provided if authorized or confirmed in writing by the Client, and shall be paid for by 
the Client in addition to the compensation for Basic Design Services.  Additional Services will be compensated 
based upon a mutually agreed fee.  If a fee is not mutually agreed to, the Additional Services will be billed at the 
hourly rates set forth herein.  Incurred expenses associated with any Additional Services are in addition to the 
Additional Services Fee and will be reimbursed at cost. 
 
 



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St r eet ,  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  M O 64108   Page  2  O F  3  

 

Additional Services will be billed on an hourly basis at the following 2021 rates: 
 

Partner $190.00 
Senior Associate I 
Civil Engineer I  

$150.00 
$150.00 

Senior Associate II 
Professional Land Surveyor 

$135.00 
$120.00 

Associate  
Civil Engineer I 

$110.00 
$110.00 

Designer $ 95.00 
Staff I $ 85.00 
Staff II $ 80.00 
Staff III 
Administrative 
 

$ 65.00 
$ 70.00 

 
ARTICLE 5 WORK NOT INCLUDED IN BASIC SERVICES 
 

a. Soils/Geotechnical Investigation 
b. Structural Engineering 
c. Permitting and Review Fees 
d. Architectural Design 
e. Electrical Engineering 
f. Multiple Bid Sets, Outside of Playground Equipment Bid Package 
g. Property Consolidation Survey Scope 

  



t  816 .221 .0825  |  1925  C entra l  St r eet ,  Sui t e  202 |  Kansas C i ty ,  M O 64108   Page  3  O F  3  

 

ARTICLE 6 SCHEDULE 

 
PHASE / MEETINGS DATE 

1. Task 1 – Topographic Survey 

a. Collect Field Data and Research Easements/Property Boundaries Concurrently 

b. Develop topographic survey plan in CAD and deliver to City 

5/31/21 
Through 
6/13/21 

2. Task 2 – Community Engagement / Schematic Design 

a. Kick-off Meeting with City to Finalize Engagement & Communication Plan [wk. of June 1] 

b. Community Engagement Meeting 01 (Preferences) – [wk. of June 8] 

c. Community Engagement Meeting 02 (Plan Alternatives) [July 3 Picnic]  

d. Community Engagement Meeting 02 (Separate Meeting) {wk. of July 8] 

d.   Mayor/City Council Meeting (Present Preferred Plan) – [July 29, tentative] 

6/1/21 
Through 
7/30/21 

3. Task 3A – Design Services (Design Development) 

a. Deliver Design Development Documents (Plans and Cost Opinion) [Sept. 30] 

b. Meeting to Review DD Documents prior to Community Meeting 03 [wk. of Sept. 13] 

c. Community Engagement Meeting 03 (Present DD Plan) [wk. of Sept 20) 

8/1/21 
Through 
9/30/21 

4. Task 3B – Design Services (Construction Documents) 

a. Deliver 50% Construction Documents [Oct. 15] 

b. Meeting to Review 50% Construction Documents [wk. of Oct. 18] 

c. Deliver Bid Package for Playground Equipment [wk. of Oct. 25] 

d. Deliver 95% Construction Documents [Nov 12] 

e. Meeting to Review 95% Construction Documents and Playground Bids [wk. of Nov 15] 

f. Deliver 100% Construction Documents [Dec 3] 

g. Meeting to Review 100% Construction Documents [wk. of Dec 6] 

10/1/21 
Through 
12/15/21 

5. Phase 4A – Implementation Services (Bidding and Contractor Negotiations) 

a. Bid Package Distribution [wk. of Dec 13] 

b. Advertise for Bid [Dec 20 – Jan 20] 

c. Pre-Bid Meeting [Jan 6] 

d. Bids Due [Jan 20] 

e. Award Contractor, Begin Contract Negotiation Upon Approval (Council Meeting) [Jan 27] 

12/15/21 
Through 
2/28/22 

6. Phase 4B – Implementation Services (Construction Observation) 

a. Pre-Construction Meeting [wk. of March 1] sooner weather on contract execution permitting 

b. Expected Construction Period [Mar. 1 to June 30]  

c. Punch Lists Work Finalized [wk. of June 30] 

2/28/22 
Through 
6/30/22 

 
 



EXHIBIT 4

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

































2022 Human Service Fund (HSF)

Edgerton City Council Meeting
May 27, 2021

Julie Brewer, Executive Director
United Community Services of Johnson County











 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Edgerton City Council 
 
From: James Oltman – President, ElevateEdgerton!  
 
Re: 2022 Funding Request 
 
Date: 5/27/2021 
 
 
 
Overview 
 
ElevateEdgerton! has been operating as a public-private organization since the very 
beginning of 2017. Since formation ElevateEdgerton! has focused it efforts on residential 
development recruitment, commercial development recruitment, workforce development 
efforts and being a resource in the continued growth of Logistics Park Kansas City.  
 
On June 16th, 2021 the ElevateEdgerton! Board of Directors will hold their third strategic 
planning session since the inception of ElevateEdgerton! to evaluate the current focused 
priorities set forth for ElevateEdgerton!. During this process they will evaluate the progress 
of the organization and refine as needed.  
 
The purpose/mission of ElevateEdgerton!(EE!) is to promote/facilitate organized growth of 
the Edgerton, KS and Logistics Park Kansas City(LPKC) community by taking advantage of 
opportunities available because of the Burlington Northern Santa Fe Intermodal Facility. 
 
 
 
 
2020/2021 ElevateEdgerton! Priorities 
 
Residential Development 
Retail/Hotel/Service Industry Recruitment 
Workforce 
Investor Retention/Growth 
Rail-served development recruitment 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
2020/2021 ElevateEdgerton! Deliverables  

 
- Housing development efforts 

o Maintain and update inventory of properties well positioned for residential 
development (completed) 

o Meet with potential housing developers about new residential construction 
in Edgerton (ongoing) 

o Compile data relevant to aiding housing development efforts (Edgerton 
Housing Assessment completed April 2021) 
 

- Retail/commercial recruitment efforts 
o Continue to assess the needs of LPKC tenants and proceed accordingly  

(On the Go Travel Center under construction) 
o Maintain and update marketing material specifically geared towards 

commercial recruitment (ongoing) 
o Attend events and meetings geared towards active recruitment of 

retail/commercial 
▪ Commercial Developer meetings 
▪ ICSC Recon: Global Retail Convention (2020/2021 event postponed to 

December 2021) 
 

- Workforce  
o Host monthly HR roundtable for all LPKC tenants (restarting June 2021) 
o Coordinate LPKC exclusive career fairs  
o Regional marketing for LPKC employment opportunities (Ongoing) 

 
- Investor Retention/Growth 

o Continued effort on adding new strategic partnerships to ElevateEdgerton! 
 

- Representing Edgerton within the region  
o Attend Planning Commission and City Council meetings when economic 

development opportunities are being discussed 
o Represent Edgerton at regional economic development events 

▪ Kansas City Area Development Council 
▪ KC Smartport 
▪ Kansas Economic Development Alliance 
▪ Southern Economic Development Council  
▪ Council of Supply Chain Management Professionals 

 
- Community Services 

o New Resident bags (Ongoing) 
o Create an outlet for community news and events (Ongoing) 

 
Adapted to needs created by COVID Pandemic and facilitated COVID Vaccination Clinic 
for Edgerton Residents and LPKC Employees 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2021/2022 ElevateEdgerton! Deliverables  

 
- Housing development efforts 

o Maintain and update inventory of properties well positioned for residential 
development  

o Meet with potential housing developers about new residential construction 
in Edgerton 

o Stay up to date on Economic Development Tools available to assist 
communities recruit housing development 
 

- Retail/commercial recruitment efforts 
o Maintain and update marketing material specifically geared towards 

commercial recruitment  
o Attend events and meetings geared towards active recruitment of 

retail/commercial 
 

- Workforce  
o Host monthly HR roundtable for all LPKC tenants  
o Coordinate LPKC exclusive career fairs  
o Regional marketing for LPKC employment opportunities 

 
- Investor Retention/Growth 

o Continued effort on adding new strategic partnerships to ElevateEdgerton! 
 

- Representing Edgerton within the region  
o Attend Planning Commission and City Council meetings when economic 

development opportunities are being discussed 
o Represent Edgerton in the economic development community 

▪ Kansas City Area Development Council 
▪ KC SmartPort 
▪ Kansas Economic Development Alliance 
▪ Southern Economic Development Council  
▪ Greater Kansas City Foreign Trade Zone 

 
- Community Services 

o New Resident bags  
o Create an outlet for community news and events  
o Enable flexibility to adapt to unforeseen circumstances as we exit COVID 

pandemic 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Requested funding amount:  
 
$55,000.00 cash contributions 
 
$10,000 in-kind contributions from City of Edgerton Marketing and Communications 
employee 
 
$10,000 targeted allocation – Commercial Development Recruiting Fund – Provides ability 
to leverage money from other partners for the purpose of commercial development 
recruitment activities:  
 

- Data Collection – Targeted Industries 
- Commercial development related marketing 
- Enhance efforts to capitalize on the addition of the On the Go Travel Center 


